
 

 

 
CULTURE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY PANEL 

 

Date: Thursday 19th May, 2022 
Time: 1.00 pm 

Venue: Virtual 

 
AGENDA 

 

Please note: this is a virtual meeting. 
 
The meeting will be live-streamed via the Council’s Youtube 
channel at 1.00 pm on Thursday 19th May, 2022 

 
 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Minutes from the Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel 
held on 7 April 2022 
 
 

 3 - 6 

4.   Tough enough? Enforcement in Middlesbrough and its impact 
on crime and anti-social behaviour'- Draft final report 
 
The panel is asked to consider the draft final report regarding 
Tough enough? Enforcement in Middlesbrough and its impact 
on crime and anti-social behaviour' and to consider the draft 
recommendations. 
 
 

 7 - 82 

5.   Chair's OSB Update 
 
 

  

6.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil
https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesboroughcouncil


 

Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Wednesday 11 May 2022 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors C McIntyre (Chair), G Wilson (Vice-Chair), R Arundale, S Dean, C Dodds, 
L Lewis, D McCabe, J Rostron and M Nugent 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Susie Blood, (01642) 729645, Susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



Culture and Communities Scrutiny PanelThursday 7 April 2022 

1 
 

CULTURE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
A meeting of the Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel was held on Thursday 7 April 2022. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors G Wilson (Vice-Chair), R Arundale, S Dean, C Dodds, L Lewis, 
J Rostron and M Nugent,   
 

 
PRESENT BY 
INVITATION: 

 

 
ALSO IN 
ATTENDANCE: 

T Godfrey Harrison (Middlesbrough Foodbank) 

 
OFFICERS: Susie Blood, Martin Barker and Janette Savage 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

C McIntyre 

 
21/29 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no Declarations of Interest received at this point in the meeting.  

 
21/30 MINUTES - CULTURE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY PANEL - 10 MARCH 2022 

 
 The minutes of the Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel held on 10 March 2022 were 

submitted and approved as a correct record. 
 

21/31 MIDDLESBROUGH FOODBANK 
 

 The Chair welcome Tracey Godfery- Harrison, Manager of Middlesbrough Foodbanks to the 
meeting. The Manager had been invited to provide the panel with an update on the foodbank 
provision since the panel undertook their review in 2019. 
The Manager advised that she has been in post for just over 4 months and firstly provide the 
panel with some statistics. 
 
She advised that in the year 2020/2021 
Vouchers fulfilled- 6089 
Adults fed-  8246 
Children fed- 4074 
Total number of fed- 12,320 
 
In date in 2021-22, the foodbanks has issued the following: 
Vouchers fulfilled -3595 
Adults fed- 5080 
Children fed- 3398 
Total number fed as of 7 April 2022- 8,478 
 
The Manager advised that this was an shocking figure, however with the impact of covid and 
the raising utility bills, the foodbank was struggling to keep their shelves stocked at the 
warehouse. Whilst residents are generous with their monetary gifts and donations, the 
foodbanks are struggling to keep up with the demand and therefore quite often have to order 
from supermarkets to replenish their stock. In the 4 months since the Manager started, she 
has signed up a further 50 referral agencies. 
 
There were 6 distribution centres across Middlesbrough. They recently closed the foodbank at 
Whinney banks, as it was not busy , however a new foodbank has opened in Berwick Hills 
and in May another foodbank will be opening at St Thomas Moore RC, Beechwood (the ward 
council thanked the Manager for her support in establishing this). 
 
The panel were made aware that at 1 foodbank, volunteers may be serving 100 people, 
however this does not account to the number of adults / children in the household and the 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Thursday 7th April, 2022  

foodbank also act as a signposting service for other services e.g. citizen’s advice, mental 
health services. 
 
During covid, the foodbanks did operate, however the service operated from the door, 
however now centres are reopening and the centres can now offer refreshments and comfort 
prior to distributing the food bags. 
 
Following the presentation, a panel member queried whether the manager thought the 
situation in Ukraine was affecting the volume of donations to the food banks. In response, the 
manager felt this had not had an effect and Middlesbrough FC were holding a food collection 
point at their coming home game, so there was ongoing support. 
The Manager was thanked for her presentation. 
 
AGREED- That the information be noted. 
 

21/32 THE WELFARE SOLUTION 
 

 The Chair welcomed Janette Savage, Head of Resident and Business Support and Martin 
Barker, Strategic Business Manager to the meeting who were in attendance to provide an 
overview of the Council’s welfare solution. 
 
The information would support some of the points raised by the food bank.    
The Head of Service advised that in 2020, a new service was established – called Resident 
and Business Support. The service evolved from what was previously Revenues and Benefits.  
 
Having been responsible for distributing most of the Covid 19 support, post Covid would 
require a something entirely different, Residents and Business Support formed through the 
migration and centralisation of a number of services.  All debt, financial assistance, advice and 
support were moved into one service area, aligned to the councils welfare solution.   

 
The intended purpose of the service is too provide a single point, addressing a number of 
welfare related matters, focussing on the much needed support for our residents and 
businesses.    
 
As a service, one part is responsible for collection of all council debt, e.g.  (List is not 
exclusive): 

• Billing collection & enforcement  of 

– Council Tax  

– Business Rates  

– Housing Benefit Overpayments 

• Collection & Enforcement  

– Accounts Receivable  

– Adult Social Care – Debt 

– Commercial Rents.  

– Public Space Protection Orders.  

– Car Parking Fines. 

– Environmental Fines.  

• Corporate lead  

– Stop the Knock. 

– Debt Write Off/Debt Prioritisation Solution.  

– Resident Engagement Solution.  

– Covid 19 grants  

Page 4



Thursday 7th April, 2022  

– Cost of living grants  

– Digital Inclusion 
The other part of the service offers Financial Assistance, Advice & Support which includes:-  
(List is not exhaustive). 
 
There was a package/ menu of support for residents to access. 
  

• Financial Assistance   

– Administer Council Tax Reduction and Housing Benefit schemes Provide 

Crisis Support / Emergency Funds / Furniture and White 

Goods/Food/Fuel/Clothing. The service can fast track these funds if a need is 

identified. 

– Help with housing costs (shortfalls in rent / storage costs / removal costs etc) 

through Discretionary Housing Payment scheme 

– Administer Children’s S17 payments  

– Adult Social Care – Financial Assessment  

• Financial Support 

– Responsible for Test and Trace and Household Support schemes (which 

ended on 6 April 2022) 

– Free School Meals and any food provision support (family who are identified 

as struggling can be provided with free school meals).  

– Energy Support Rebate  £150.00 (all properties band A-D will receive this). 

Those households who are on direct debit will received this automatically and 

others will need to apply. Wards by deprivation will receive this rebate. 

– Financial Inclusion – Access to 43 partnering organisations – council lead. 

The Council has been awarded £1.6 million to assist with food bills and 

household bills. 

– Support into the integrated Care Solution/Public Health.  

• Financial Advice 

– Point of contact with DWP Partnership Manager – immediate case resolution  

– Benefit take up (case workers will identify those to assess the correct 

benefits) 

– Welfare Rights/Citizens bureau leave (CAB) lead.  

• Corporate Lead  

– Vulnerability Policy, Food Poverty (how we can provide longer term support 

for food) and Welfare Strategy. 

– Community Bank – provided account access for Ukraine – access funds 

immediately.  

After providing the information, the Manger provided the panel with what the welfare strategy 
looked like, which put the resident at the heart of the strategy, providing a full scale review of 
those residents/families who are either on benefits/or slightly outside of entitlement as they 
are working  ensuring they have the correct level of support. 
Following the presentation, information would be provided to all panel members for future 
reference. The panel were pleased that the council was addressing this issue and providing 
support, even to  those not on benefits. The free phone number was: 08081789278. 
 
Once the solution was finalised, information on what the service can provide would be 
published through the council, community hubs, social media channels and through local 
councillors. 

Page 5



Thursday 7th April, 2022  

 
The officers were thanked for their presentation. 

 
 
AGREED- That the information be noted 
 
 

21/33 CHAIR'S OSB UPDATE 
 

 The Vice-Chair provided a verbal update from the Overview and Scrutiny Board held on 23 
March 2022. 
 
AGREED- That the information be noted. 
 

21/34 DATE OF NEXT MEETING- THURSDAY 19 MAY 2022 
 

 The next meeting of the Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel would take place on 
Thursday 19 May 2022. 
 

21/35 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 
CONSIDERED. 
 

 No Items. 
 

 
 

 

Page 6



1 
 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Purpose of report Page 2 

Aims of investigation Page 2 
Council’s Three Core Objectives and 
priorities 

Page 2 

Terms of reference Page 2 
Background information Page 3 
Setting the Scene Page 3 

Terms of reference A Page 3 
Terms of reference B Page 7 

Terms of reference C Page 12 
Terms of reference D Page 17 

Conclusions Page 23 
Recommendations Page 24 

Acknowledgements Page 25 
Background papers Page 26 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FINAL REPORT OF THE CULTURE 

AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 

PANEL- TOUGH ENOUGH? 

ENFORCEMENT IN 

MIDDLESBROUGH AND ITS IMPACT 

ON CRIME AND ANTI-SOCIAL 

BEHAVIOUR 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



2 
 

 

 

PURPOSE OF REPORT 

1. To present the final report of the Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel following 

its investigation into ‘ Tough enough? Enforcement in Middlesbrough and its impact 

on crime and anti-social behaviour’. 

AIM OF INVESTIGATION 

2. The aim of the panel’s investigation was to consider Middlesbrough Council’s 

approach to enforcement in Middlesbrough and its impact on crime and anti-social 

behaviour in the Town. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2021-24 

3. The scrutiny of this topic aligns with the Council’s three core aims set out within the 

Strategic plan 2021-24. 

 

People- Working with communities and other public services in Middlesbrough to 

improve the lives of local people 

 

Place- Securing improvements in Middlesbrough’s housing, infrastructure and 

attractiveness, improving the town’s reputation, creating opportunities for local people 

and improving our finances. 

 

Business- Middlesbrough’s economy and making sure we work as effectively as 

possible to support our ambitions for People and Place. 

 

4. The scrutiny topic further links with the below priority set out for the next three years:  

 

Crime and anti- social behaviour- We will tackle crime and anti-social behaviour head 

on, working with our partners to ensure local people feel safer.  

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

5. The terms of reference for the panel’s investigation were as follows: 

 

 To examine the powers set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and how this 

has shaped Middlesbrough’s partnership working to tackle crime and anti –social 

behavior in the Town. 

 To understand the nature and levels of anti-social behavior and crime across the 

town. Has there been improvement or decline over the past 2 years? 

 To understand perceptions and impacts of crime and anti-social behavior in the 

town on residents. 

 To gain an understanding of the locality model and understand the impact this 

has made on residents and anti- social behaviour within these two areas and 

merits of wider roll out. 

 

 

Page 8



3 
 

BACKGROUND 

6. At the panel’s first meeting, they agreed their work programme and raised increasing 

concern regarding crime and anti-social behaviour within the town. Press reports had 

drawn to issues within Hemlington and the Town Centre and therefore the panel 

wished to gain a better understand of the Council’s enforcement and its impact of 

crime and anti-social behaviour. 

SETTING THE SCENE 

7. At the panel’s meeting on 21 July 2022, the Director of Environment and community 

services provided an overview of the directorate, within this, he highlighted the work 

of the community safety team and their work to reduce crime and anti-social 

behaviour across the town. 

  

8. The panel wish to convey their thanks to the teams within community safety, as since 

the pandemic, the panel learnt that there has been increased crime across the town 

and the team has shown true resilience and dedication, as well as partnership 

working.  

 

9. The information provided by the Director has been considered in respect of the terms 

of reference, presented as follows. 

 

Term of reference A: 

 

To examine the powers set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and how 

this has shaped Middlesbrough’s partnership working to tackle crime and 

anti –social behavior in the Town. 

 

 

10. Section 6 of the 1998 Act requires the responsible authorities (commonly referred to 

collectively as a Community Safety Partnership (CSP)) in a local government area to 

work together in formulating and implementing strategies to tackle local crime and 

disorder in the area.  

 

11. The panel gathered evidence from the Head of Stronger Communities in relation to 

Middlesbrough’s approach to community safety and the overall structure of the 

community safety partnership. 

 

 

12. The panel learnt that Middlesbrough’s community safety team consists of the 

following: 

 

 Neighbourhood safety wardens 

 Neighbourhood safety wardens (environmental) 

 Neighbourhood safety officer 

 Community safety partnership 

 CCTV operations 

 Community resilience, cohesion and migration 

 

The role of each is presented below: 

Page 9



4 
 

13. Neighbourhood Safety Wardens- 43 wardens who deal with a whole host of 
activities, including for example; supporting vulnerable people i.e. refer to and link them 
to specialist support services such as Homeless; Substance Misuse; Debt 
Management; Domestic Abuse, Routes to Employment/Work; Health services; 
Support victims of crime and antisocial behavior; Enforce parking contraventions 
Parking Fines; Issue Fixed Penalty Notices for littering /dog fouling ; Enforce PSPO in 
TS1; Carry Naloxone injections; wardens are trained in first aid and basic life support 
(they can also administer CPR) and gather intelligence and information which is shared 
with Police and other key partners. 

 

14. Neighbourhood Safety Wardens (Environmental)- x 7 and Environmental 
Operatives x 5 (Flying Squad) . The  flying Squad were a newly formed Team 
developed on 1 March 2021 who identify and search through fly tipping, collect and 
remove all fly tipping from the particular site.  
 

The Neighbourhood Safety Wardens further enforce fly tipping, via fines and if 

necessary through the courts ; deal with stray dogs, deal with abandoned vehicles and 

are trained to respond to wardens activities already mentioned. 

 

The panel were pleased to hear that since the introduction of the team there have been 

positive results across the Town.  

15. Neighbourhood Safety Officers – 7 officers who deal with issues that require a multi-
agency approach, who work directly with elected members and try and solve problems 
to community issues. These can be varied depending on the issue.  

 

16. The officers utilise a range of legal and non-legal measures to resolve anti-social 

behaviour, reduce crime and the fear of crime and bring respite to victims of crime and 

anti-social behaviour. 

 

17. The team Investigate complaints of nuisance, anti-social behaviour and hate crime, 

working across all housing tenures, using advisory, counselling, negotiating / 

persuasive skills to convince others to take particular courses of action, where 

appropriate, this may result in for example, an anti-social behaviour contract 

 

18. Where all other avenues fail, the officers will gather a portfolio of evidence and work 

with key stakeholders to produce a prosecution pack for House Closure; Civil 

Injunction, or Criminal Behaviour Order against persistent and unchanging offenders.  

These have been carried out and the panel were provided with examples.  

 

 

19. In addition to their work, the Neighbourhood Safety officers hold certain powers: 

 

 They were awarded Cleveland Police accreditation in 2019- delegated from the 
Chief Constable to officers within the team. This gives the officers power to ask 
individuals for their name and address and if they fail to do so this is a criminal 
offence. Low level anti-social behaviour 

 Public Space protection order – TS1 area 
 Closure orders 

Page 10



5 
 

 Civil injunctions 
 Acceptable behaviour campaign (ABC)- a really useful tool which is affective to 

deal with certain individuals 

 Environmental powers 

 Parking enforcement 
 Power of persuasion  

 Partnership working – a key tool to the teams work. The team have daily 
briefings with the police/ Selective landlord licensing team/ community safety 
and the housing team to discuss key offenders and issues. 

 Active intelligence mapping (AIM) which takes place every 3 weeks which 
analyse data and creates action plans to tackle hot spots and there is also the 
community safety partnership (statutory body) 

 

In September 2021, the team had successfully completed the following:  

 

Total number of service requests 

dealt with by the service April 2021-

20/10/2021 

13872 

CCTV total number of cameras in 

the local authority network 

400+ and more installs planned 

- Officers have actively 
installed cctv across the town 
and there are further plans to 
install more and improve the 
infrastructure within the 
control room. 

PSPO warning/positive interventions 244 

PSPO Fines 19 

Environmental enforcement actions/ 

care files and fixed penalty notices 

combined 

145 (will increase significantly in the 

coming months as investigations are 

concluded) 

Closure orders 9 

Civil injunctions 7 

Lives saved using Naloxone 2 

 

20. The panel were pleased with the positive action and work that had been carried out 

by the team and commended the excellent partnership working.  

 

21. Areas of support of from the teams, have also been illustrated through the following 

examples; referrals to social workers , temperature checks during Covid 19, wardens 

engaging with LINX project, all of which have been excellent examples of support 

within the community. 

 

22. In terms of work with the community, the Community Cohesion, Resilience and 

Migration Team add excellent community partnership to Middlesbrough, examples of 

which have been talent shows; supporting Refugee week and positive work with 

Page 11



6 
 

various communities to increase cultural awareness. The team work across the whole 

of Middlesbrough and at present are working with intergenerational work.  

 

23.  The panel were also made aware that within the warden service, a member of staff, 

known as “Gentle George” speaks 5 different languages and is a great asset to the 

team.  

 

24. The team have also worked to develop amazing alleys (9 already completed and a 

further 11 in progress) and bedding areas within community hubs. 

 

Community Safety partnership 

 

25. Community Safety Partnership (CSP) are a statutory partnership made up of key 

‘Responsible Authorities’ who have equal responsibility for reducing crime and 

antisocial behaviour under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (As amended by the 

Antisocial Behaviour Act 2014 and the Policing and Crime Act 2017).  

 

26. The responsible authorities for the CSP are as follows: 

 Police 

 Local Authority  

 Fire and Rescue Authority  

 Health  

 Probation and  

 Youth offending service  

 

27. These agencies work in collaboration with other statutory and non-statutory 

organisations as well as voluntary services and local people.  

 

28. The CSP produces a Strategic Intelligence Assessment and a Community Safety 

Plan every 2 years and will be reviewed in 2022. 

 

29. The CSP is required to produce a Community Safety Plan, detailing how it intends to 

tackle crime and disorder and develop strategies to tackle short, medium and long term 

priorities.  

 

30. Middlesbrough’s latest Community Safety Plan will run until the end of March 2022.  

The plan will be reviewed in October 2022 and will be referred to Executive for 

approval. 

 

31. The priorities are as follows: 

 

 Priority 1- Perceptions and feeling Safe (e.g. Reducing crime and anti-social 

behaviour) 

 Priority 2-Tacking the root causes (e.g. tacking adverse experiences)   

 Priority 3- Locality working, including the Town Centre (e.g. working with our 

communities) 

 

32. The panel also learnt that there is a 23 page delivery plan which looks at the 

objectives; these are RAG rated and ensure each objective is on target and if failing, 

actions will be put in place. 

Page 12



7 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Term of reference B: 

To understand the nature and levels of anti-social behavior and crime 

across the town. Has there been improvement or decline over the past 2 

years? 

 

33. Whilst the panel heard about the excellent partnership work within town, they also 

wished to examine the nature and levels of crime and anti-social behaviour in 

Middlesbrough. 

 

34. Statistics were presented by the Head of Stronger Communities who provided 
overview of the crime and anti-social statistics.  
 

35. The data was Cleveland Police data and showed crime and anti-social behaviour 
rates for (the information is attached at appendix 1 of the report)  
 

 
• Cleveland Local Authority rate comparisons 
• Middlesbrough Wards total numbers 
• Middlesbrough Wards rates 

 

36. The first graph provided information for 100,000 population for Middlesbrough. The 
statistics showed that Crime rates for Middlesbrough in 2019 and 2020 remained 
close to the other local authorities, however looking at the start of 2021 the crime rate 
had climbed further away from the other Local authorities as the year was 
progressing. It was encouraging to see a reduction of crime and anti-social behavior 
in October 2021/ November 2021, however the gap between local authorities was 
significantly wide. 
 

37. The Head of Stronger Communities advised that there was a change in recording for 
crime and anti-social behavior in April 2021, which was highlighted due to the 
significant drip in recording. 

Success stories from the CSP 

Pallister Park and Norfolk shops were targeted by groups of youths 

throwing missiles and causing harassment, alarm and distress to 

shoppers. Through multiagency working, partners raised £8K to 

purchase, erect and monitor a rapid deployment camera. Partners 

met on a weekly basis and addressed individuals causing the 

nuisance and feedback to residents on a weekly basis ensuring they 

were kept inform of all the work that was being done. 

 

 

 

Page 13



8 
 

 
38. In terms of anti-social behavior, statistics show that although Middlesbrough has 

higher anti-social behavior rates than other local authorities, it is encouraging that the 
rates in Middlesbrough were at their lowest in 3 years. 
 
 
CRIME IN MIDDLESBROUGH- analysis and rates 
 

39. In terms of crime across Middlesbrough, the panel were provided with a ward by 
ward analysis. At the time of the review, the 2021-22 data was incomplete as this ran 
from 1 April 2021- 31 March 2022. Crime totals per ward shows that nearly all wards 
(excluding Brambles & Thorntree, Park end & Beckfield, and Ayresome) saw a 
decrease in crime from 2019-2020. 
 

40. The statistics also showed some wards such as Hemlington, Ladgate, Kader, and 
Central have already recorded more crimes, or were all nearly higher than 2020. 
 

41. The highest crime rates still remain in Central ward, however this was not uncommon 
to towns due to the town centre effect, as there was quite often an increase due to 
shop lifting in prime issues within this area. North Ormesby was second and Newport 
third.  
 

42. In terms of crime rates, the 2021 figure was not fully complete so it was expected that 
they would be lower. 
 

43. A decrease from 2019 to 2020 was evident. However looking from 2018-2020 wards 
such as Newport, Park End & Beckfield, Brambles & Thorntree, and Park either 
increased or remained at a similar rate. 
 

ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR- analysis and rate 
 

44. In terms of anti-social behavior analysis, the statistics showed an increased in 17 out 
of 20 wards from 2019-2020. This was expected due to an increase in anti-social 
behavior during COVID and the breach of lockdown rules. However the Head of 
Service advised that anti-social behavior in all wards so far in 2021 has remained 
lower than both 2019 and 2020.  
 

45. In terms of rates, this does not change significantly except when looking at the anti-
social behavior rate, the only slight difference was that Park End & Beckfield comes 
higher than Park ward. This was due to less anti-social behaviour occurring in the 
ward and a smaller population. 
 
 

Neighbourhood Policing- work within the community 

46. The panel, whilst receiving statistical data on crime and anti-social behaviour, were 
keen to also understand the current situation with Cleveland Police, under the 
Neighbourhood policing model. 
 

47. The panel received information from Chief Inspection Tomlinson, who advised that 
there had been significant changes in Neighborhood policing over the past 2 years ( 
as the covid-19 pandemic commenced).  
 

48. The current Neighbourhood policing model was devised as follows: 
 

Page 14



9 
 

 

Superintendent Marc Anderson (South Commander) 
 

Chief Inspector Daryll Tomlinson 
(dedicated to Neighbourhood policing in Middlesbrough) 

 
Middlesbrough North Insp Darren Birkett                 Middlesbrough South T/Insp Chris Turner 
 
Each have 3 teams each- consisting of Sargent’s PC’s and PCSO’s who cover all 20 wards 
in Middlesbrough. 
 
On top of neighbourhood policing, the below teams listed are in place to help the delivery of  
Middlesbrough across Middlesbrough. 
 

 Response Teams 24/7 

 CID 

 Safeguarding Teams 

 Sex Offender Management 
 Complex Exploitation Team 

 Community Safety 

 Homicide and Major Enquiry Team 

 Cyber Crime 
 Fraud 

 Organised Crime Unit 

 Intelligence 
 
49. The goal of the Neighbourhood Policing unit was as follows: 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 15



10 
 

 
 
 

50. The Panel were advised that the Neighbourhood Strategy operates and is in line with 
the National Neighbourhood Strategy. The aim of Neighbourhood policing hits within 
three headings; Engagement; Problem Solving and Targeted activity.  

 
51. The Chief Inspector outlined some of the activities undertaken under the 3 headings:  

 
Engagement Problem Solving Targeted activities 
Community Engagement 
Ward Pledge 

Problem Solving OEL 
(Police) 

TCG Targets 

Ward priorities, Ward 
Newsletters, Ward 
meetings 

Problem Solving Plans 
(Partnership Working) 

Who is causing our 
communities the issues. 

Visibility – Right People, 
Right Places, Right Times 

Repeat Callers, Repeat 
Victims, Repeat 
Locations 

Week of action in North 
Ormesby 

Ring backs, Revisits – 
Victims Code of practice – 
meaningful 
communication 

 Week of action in 
Hemlington 

Schools, Youth Clubs, 
Youth provisions – Linx, 
Youth Focus North East. 

  

 
 

52. The panel were aware of the pressures on Cleveland Police and were concerned that 

of the model was not running to full capacity. 

 

53. The Chief Inspector stated that over the past 2 years, a resourcing model was 
identified by the force as to what was required to operate Neighbourhood policing, 
however to date they had not established the numbers that were envisaged. 
 

54. The numbers anticipated were as follows: 
34 police officers 
30 PCSOs 
6 Sergeants 
2 Inspectors 
 

55. At present, the numbers were in the high 20s, and along with sickness levels and 
absence, plus other demands, reaching the desired number of officers has been 
quite challenging.  
 

56. However, the panel were reassured that new officers (4-5) would be joining the force 
in early 2022 to increase the model and there was a feeling across the partnerships 
that the model would be fulfilled effectively. The Chief Inspector admitted more could 
be done, however without a full resource model this proved difficult.  
 

57. It was anticipated that each ward should have one designated PC and PCSO to 
discuss and raise issues with, however due to demand this quite often is not the 
case. In an ideal world, the force would like 5 PCs and 5 PSCOs in one ward, 
however at present this is unrealistic. 
 

Page 16



11 
 

58. Cleveland Police are recruiting officers, however it takes time to come through the 3 
year training programme, however it was hoped results would be made once officers 
were in place. 
 

59. In order to try and deal with the increasing levels of crime, the panel were pleased to 
hear about the excellent partnership working being undertaken. Partners include, 
Middlesbrough Council; Cleveland Fire Brigade; Thirteen Housing and 
Neighbourhood Policing Middlesbrough. Cleveland Police have also started to reach 
out to the community to help bridge the gap between the police and key groups.  

 
60. Key meetings take place with these partners include: 

 

 daily partnership meeting where key partners will discuss key areas of concern 
relating to crime and anti-social behaviour. This meeting looks at trends and patterns 
to identify issues early. 

 monthly meetings to deal with long term issues e.g. currently operating Hemlington 
Strategic Group. 

 monthly problem solving meetings- identify long term problems 

 4-6 weekly organised crime group meetings (prevent, pursue, protect and prepare) 
 active intelligence group (run by the local authority) 

 tasking and coordinating group for Middlesbrough – focusing on community work 

 community safety partnership 

 local police and delivery group within Cleveland Police- who hold Cleveland Police to 
account. 
 

61. There has further been key areas of Government investment through the Hard to 
Hope – Middlesbrough who have invested as part of project adder (tacking drugs- 
support individuals and treatment, investing in staff and working on reducing violence 
and firefighting culture). There was also value in working with communities especially 
with MFC, by organizing football with young people to bridge the gap (Hemlington 
and park end). The Chief Inspector further outlined that regular updates are sent out 
on performance, however there was a real push on an engagement framework to 
understand the communities and their issues. 
 

62. Visibility of police on our streets also raised concern for the panel, as they felt this 
was not the case across Middlesbrough. The Chief Inspector agreed that having 
police in cars may not appear as being visible, however it all falls to resources. Ward 
walks are able to be carried out if required and there is strong visibility in terms of 
partner organisations e.g. from street wardens and it was noted that Middlebrough is 
the only local authority in the North East who have a dedicated policing team working 
in the town centre, which was funded by partnership working. This is an excel lent 
resources to have in an area where there is the highest levels of crime and anti -
social behaviour. 
 

63. Partnership activities are also displayed through the following: 
 

• House closures 
• Civil injunctions 
• Accredited powers designed by Cleveland Police 
• Public space protection order 
• Thirteen/ partnership 
• CCTV- In November 2021, Cleveland police reviewed 130 pieces of CCTV- 81 prices 

of CCTV have been used to take forward for prosecutions 
 

Page 17



12 
 

64. Whilst the panel were pleased with this partnership working, they still feel more 

needs to be done to police our streets especially with the current issues within some 

of the wards. 

Terms of reference C; 

To understand perceptions and impacts of crime and anti-social behavior in 

the town on residents. 

 

65. The panel are well aware of the impact that crime and anti-social behaviour can have 

on individuals’ lives. 

 

66. BBC Panorama documentary – Anti-social behaviour- afraid in my own home, had 

recently been televised and spoke to the Mayor and local residents/ ward councillors 

within the Hemlington Ward. Within the programme, the CEO of the charity anti-

social behaviour help (ASB help) spoke to the presenter regarding their support for 

victims. 

 

67. The panel were thrilled to receive information from Harvinda Saimbi, newly appointed 

CEO of ASB Help and also Katy Anderson, Practitioner Support Manager. 

 

68. The background and support provided by ASB Help was as follows: 

 

 ASB Help is a registered charity in England and Wales set up to provide advice and 
support to victims of anti-social behaviour in 2013. 

 The Charity has a website that is dedicated to the memory of Fiona Pilkington from 
Leicester who in 2007 killed herself and her 18 year old disabled daughter Francecca 
after Leicester police failed to investigate her 33 complaints to them about harassment. 

 Purpose and aim is to work with victims of anti-social behaviour (ASB). The founder of 
the Charity was adamant that what happened to Fiona should not happen again. 

 ASB Help aims to provide information and advice to interested parties and members 
of the public involved with and suffering from anti-social behaviour. 

  Following such high-profile cases of vulnerable victims who did not receive any help 
from the authorities, ASB help believe there is a clear need for coordinated information 
and advice that is readily accessible to those who need it. 

 ASB Help primarily offer support through their informative website particularly focusing 
on equipping victims of anti-social behaviour with the necessary tools to effectively 
report it. 

 They provide one to one support and advice to practitioners on a wide range of ASB 
areas, such as advice on cases, provide training, sit as independent chairs or panel 
members for community trigger meetings, lead on developing local ASB conferences 
or briefings to a range of audiences.  

 ASB Help was also in the in the process of developing a practitioner site which will 
contain useful information, templates and best practice examples. They believe this is 
important because ultimately victims of anti-social behaviour will receive a better 
response where ASB practitioners are well-informed through sharing best practice, 
updates in the sector and opportunities to be innovative to get results for victims.  

 ASB Help  also plan to build up a database of information from visitors to the website 
on how effective they have found their local authorities and police to be in responding 
to reports of ASB, populated by our online survey. 

 ASB Help have particular interest in the Community Trigger (also known as the ASB 
Case Review) introduced in the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 to 
empower victims who feel they are being ignored by local agencies. They hope that 

Page 18



13 
 

they can assist victims in accessing their local Community Trigger and as we gain more 
knowledge and experience in this area, undertake political lobbying to ensure it is fit 
for purpose. 

 ASB Help also encourage authorities to sign up to the Community Trigger ASB Help 
PLEDGE 
 

69. ASB Help Pledge was introduced in 2019, to get national consistency with the 

community trigger. Guidance around community triggers can appear vague, and all 

local authorities are set up differently, and this allows local authorities to fit the 

community trigger round the key existing frameworks.   

 

70. Whilst there are inconsistencies across local authorities, there was still a central aim – 

having the victim at the heart of the process and ensuring the victims voice is heard.  

 

71. The panel were advised that the trigger progress is not a complaints  system or 

accountability, rather a problem solving exercise to address ongoing asb.  

 

72. ASB Help actively encourage local authorities to sign up to the ASB Help Pledge, by 

ensuring that they: 

 
1. Promote awareness: Actively encourage the use of the community trigger to residents 

and partner agencies. One of the key things is that the community trigger is the voice 
of victim and where the agencies collectively agree an action plan. 

2. Legality: Confirm your organisation is legally compliant and embracing the spirit of the 
community trigger. For example, having an independent chair and therefore ASB Help 
encourage local authorities to work together so that the Chair is completely 
independent from the area. 

3. Ensure accessibility: Publicise the community trigger so the most vulnerable know 
what it is and how to invoke it.  

4. Develop your process: Embrace the full potential of the community trigger by 
continually reviewing and learning from best practice.  

5. Generate inclusivity: Use community trigger review meetings to work collaboratively 
and strategically, formulating solutions to end the anti-social behaviour. The guidance 
was updated in 2021 so that victims can now attend the community trigger review 
meeting or produce a statement to have their voice heard at the beginning of the  
meeting.  

6. Establish a precedent of using the community trigger to put victims first and deter 
perpetrators.  

 

73. ASB Help welcome interested organisations to look at what the Pledge, as subscribing 

to it will show commitment to victims of anti-social behaviour.  

  

74. The outcomes of a community trigger meeting as successful and the Manager advised 

that she has never attended a community trigger meeting where has been no actions  

taken. 

 

75.  ASB help can work with local organisations to work on these processes. This also 

shows that local authorties/ organisations have worked with them to sign the pledge.  

 

76. The panel learnt that the Council have an anti-social behaviour policy (ASB Policy), 

which is attached to the report as an appendix. This underpins everything that the 

Page 19



14 
 

council does to support victims of crime and anti-social behaviour as well as 

information on the community trigger process. 

 

77. However, whilst information is available, the panel members stated that until the 

documentary, they had never heard of a community trigger and therefore felt, this 

needed to be better published and that the Council’s approach should be explained 

fuller. 

 

Middlesbrough’s approach to victims and the community trigger process 

 

78. Strategic Community Safety Manager, provided the panel with information on the 

community trigger process.  It must be noted that Middlesbrough Council have an 

excellent team and victims of crime and asb are their upmost concern and at the 

forefront of what the council do. 

79. In terms of community triggers, as way of introduction: 

• The Community Trigger was introduced under the anti-social Behaviour, Crime and 

Policing Act 2014. 

• Purpose - To give victims and communities the right to request a review of their case 

and bring agencies together to take a joined up, problem solving approach to find a 
solution.  

• Vulnerable or repeat victims of ASB being missed due to agencies working in isolation 

(Fiona Pilkington case) 

• Information regarding problems in an area not being shared between agencies 

• Poor coordination of problems and lack of problem solving or joint working between 

agencies 

80. The following agencies are involved in the community trigger: 

• Middlesbrough Council 

• Cleveland Police 

• Tees Valley Commissioning Group (CCG) if required 

• Co-opted Housing Associations (Thirteen lead contact) 

81. The community can ask for the community trigger to be activated when it hits the 

following thresholds: 

• An individual, business or community group has made three or more reports regarding 

the same  problem in the past six months to Middlesbrough Council, Cleveland Police, 

or their Housing Association Landlord, or 

• More than one individual, business or community group has made five or more reports 

about the same  problem in the past six months to Middlesbrough Council, Cleveland 

Police, or their Housing Association Landlord. 

82. The request for the community trigger to be activated when: 

Qualifying requests: 

Page 20



15 
 

 Requests cannot be made more than 6 months after the problems to review have 

occurred. 

 Requests cannot be made where the problems were not reported to official agencies 
within 1 month of their occurrence.  

 Generally requests cannot be made about problems that occurred outside of 

Middlesbrough.  

 The Community Trigger process is a request for a review. It is not a complaint 

process.  

83. The trigger process in Middlesbrough is as follows: 

• All requests must be made by telephone, email or letter to the Council’s 

Neighbourhood Safety Team. 

• Acknowledgement letter sent.  

• Information request made to all ‘responsible’ agencies 

• Legal Services decide if threshold met 

• Case Review Panel meeting arranged 

• Applicant informed of outcome 

84. If the thresholds are met, the review panel will consider the following:  

 

1. Have the reports been acknowledged? 
2. Was the victims vulnerability assessed? The Manager outlined that she carried out 

some work with the Home Office to produce a matrix for Victims of anti-social 
behaviour which was rolled out nationally. 

3. Did any response  consider  the vulnerability of the victim? 
4. Was there appropriate information sharing / problem solving / joint working? 
5. Were procedures followed? 
6. Was the victims vulnerability reduced to a satisfactory level? 
7. Was the problem reduced to a level where  the behaviour reported is no longer a cause 

for concern?  
8. Case review panel may make recommendations and/or produce an action plan 

 

85. In terms of numbers of Community Triggers: 

Community Triggers by Quarter – Financial Year 2021/22 

Quarter Tota

l 

Date 

Received 

Ward 
 

Met 

Threshol

d 

Appeals 

Q1 (Apr-

Jun) 

2 Jun-21 North Ormesby 
 

Y N 

Jun-21 Coulby Newham 
 

 N N 

    Jul-21 North Ormesby 
 

N Y 

Page 21



16 
 

  

Q2 (Jul-

Sep) 

  

  

4 

Jul-21 Park End & 

Beckfield 

 
N N 

Aug-21 Brambles & 

Thorntree 

 
Y N 

Sep-21 Hemlington 
 

N N 

  

  

Q3 (Oct-

Dec) 

  

  

4 

  

Oct-21 

  

Brambles & 

Thorntree 

 
  

Y 

  

N 

Dec-21 Berwick Hills & 

Pallister 

 
Y N 

Dec-21 Berwick Hills & 

Pallister 

 
Y N 

Dec-21 Berwick Hills & 

Pallister 

 
Y N 

Q4 (Jan-

Mar) 

     Not known at time 

of meeting 

      

          

 

86. There had been 10 community triggers to date, however in previous years there were 

few community triggers. An all member briefing was held and as a consequence,  

requests were made and therefore it shows that if you promote the trigger, they are 

requested. 

 

87. Taking onboard the reference made by  panel members with respect to not being 

aware of the community trigger, more work was required to promoting the community 

trigger. Whilst done in the past, this clearly needs reviewing. 

 

88. Information on the website further does not provide full details of the Trigger and this 

has therefore been reviewed and new information will be uploaded. 

 

89. Middlesbrough Council also share good practice and the Manager made reference to 

Redcar and Cleveland who would be reviewing their process and proforma.  

 

90. Following the information from ASB help, the Manager took on board the comment 

regarding victims and their attendance at the case review meetings. In the past 

Middlesbrough has not invited victims, however following on from the meeting the 

procedures would be updated and all victims would be invited in the future. The panel 

were extremely pleased with this outcome.  

 

91.  Middlesbrough work very hard with partners, however one aspect that they fail is 

reporting back to the community e.g. days of action. 

 

92. In terms of early intervention, the Council work tirelessly to do the following; 

Page 22



17 
 

• Active Intelligence mapping (AIM) – multi agency problem solving approach (Chaired 

by Geoff Field) 

• Operational task & finish groups 

• Set up location individual perpetrator records 

• Preventative measures/liaison with other agencies i.e. Police, Fire, Schools, Early  

Help, YOS, Social Care 

• Evidence gathering – Diary sheets, CCTV, warden reports. We do struggle to gather 

evidence as many young people still wear masks so it is difficult to identify the 

perpetrators.  

• Supporting victims (residents & businesses) throughout process 

• Warning letters/home visits 

• Acceptable behaviour contracts 

• Joint patrols 

• Final warnings 

• Legal action (injunctions, house closures, Criminal Behaviour Orders, PSPO etc)  

93. Whilst the community trigger is an effective tool, there are also other mechanisms (as 

outlined above) to support the victims. With the overwhelming amount of anti-social 

behavior issues which are reported to the Council, it is hoped that this can we dealt 

with through the multi- agency approach.  

 

Term of reference D: 

To gain an understanding of the locality model and understand the impact 

this has made on residents and anti- social behaviour within these two 

areas and merits of wider roll out. 

 

94. At the beginning of the review, the panel had shown interest in learning how the 

Council’s locality model pilot and whether it was impacting on the lives of residents, 

especially in relation to crime and ASB. 

 

95. The panel received information from the  Senior Neighbourhood Development 

Manager as well as colleagues from the Council, Streets Ahead and Cleveland Police 

to provide an overview of locality working and its impact on local communities. 

 

96. The purpose of locality working is as follows: 

 

 Locality working involves a system change to the current operational delivery 

model across Council services. It seeks to achieve joined-up systems and 

reconfigure relationships between statutory organisations, partners and the 

community. It will involve developing collaborative approaches to address the 

underlying causes of community problems and build capacity within the 

Page 23



18 
 

community in order for residents to take charge of their own future, to have a 

strong voice and to build social capital and connections within the community.  

 

97.  It was agreed that Locality Working would commence with two pilots in North Ormesby 

and Newport . The main aspects of locality working were to provide communities with 

a strong voice and to allow joint working with a specific area to tackle issues. The two 

pilot schemes commenced in April 2020 and would run for 2 years. A business case 

was drawn up at the beginning of the pilot for each area and the Manager provided 

information surrounding this: 

 

98. Business Case - Newport Ward is the 5th most deprived ward in Middlesbrough 

moving from the 123rd most deprived ward nationally in 2007 to the 38th most deprived 

ward in 2015. The North Ormesby Ward is the most deprived ward in Middlesbrough 

and the 2nd most deprived ward in England. Newport had the 3rd highest number of 

recorded Racially Motivated crimes with only Central and North Ormesby having more. 

With all three wards having more than double the Middlesbrough average per 1,000 

population. 

 

99. In addition, these wards had the highest level of antisocial behaviour per 1,000 

population in 10 February 2022 2018/19. Newport Ward had the 2nd highest rate of 

female victims of violent crime per 1,000 population in 2018/19 with only North 

Ormesby having more. When looking at alcohol related hospital admissions to James 

Cook University Hospital, Newport Ward had the 3rd highest number of admissions in 

2018/19 and in the previous year it was 2nd highest. When looking at alcohol and 

substance related ambulance pick-up data, Newport Ward had the 3rd highest level of 

recorded pick-ups with only North Ormesby and Central having higher levels. When 

looking at incidents reported to Middlesbrough Council in 2019, Newport Ward had the 

highest number of low level antisocial behaviour and environmental crimes and 2nd 

highest level of fly-tipping. 

 

100. From consultation, and data, a number of high level objectives were put in place for 

each area: 

 

 Healthier population 

 People feel safe 

 Increase satisfaction in environmental standards  

 Improve perception of community cohesion  

 Improve physical appearance of neighbourhood  

 Improve customer experience (Council and partners)  

 Build Community Capacity 

 Improve economic outcomes  

 Better outcomes for children 

 

101. Each objective is tracked through 7 overarching action plans in each locality and has 

an assigned officer. These action plans are reviewed monthly however they do a 

monthly run through of actions to professionally monitor and work with partners to 

address issues.  

 

102. Through developing the model, and as community priorities become apparent, or 

certain issues have been identified, sub groups and action plans have been developed 

Page 24



19 
 

to respond specifically to the ward level issues. In terms of benefits and outcomes, the 

benefits from the pilot are as follows: 

 

 

 

Benefit Description 

Improved public perception 

within the 2 localities 

Improved perception of: Crime, ASB, ability to 

influence decision making, community cohesion, 

ability of LA and partners to tackle local issues  

Improved outcomes for 

Children and families 

Reduction in the number of LAC.  

Reduction in the number of children subject to 

sexual exploitation and criminal exploitation  

Increased educational attainment  

Improved physical 

environment  

Cleaner environmental standards engaging with the 

community to share responsibility.  

Reduction in the number of people raising issues 

that have been reported but not dealt with 

Stronger communities Communities that engage and take shared ownership 

of local issues.   

Improve user experience  A single point of contact within the community for the 

public and professionals will remove time spent 

navigating services improving user experience. 

Right service first time. As the pilot areas will provide a single source for 

coordinating referrals and signposting information.  

Having a multifaceted team 

will encourage the sharing 

of knowledge and skills and 

result in an improved 

customer experience  

The pilots will bring together staff from multiple 

areas across the Council and partners agencies, 

meaning more knowledge and information will be 

available to inform decision making on referrals 

which will lead to efficiency gains. 

Utilise all services By having access to all services available including 

voluntary sector, the load will be spread across a 

wider range of providers easing pressures 

particularly on social care. 

Support for integrated 

working 

The pilot will put into practice the key principles of 

integrated working including relationship building, 

improved communications, information sharing, 

pooled budgets, joint planning and management of 

resources. These will provide a governance 

framework and working practices that can be re-used 

by future integrated working initiatives 

 

Page 25



20 
 

103. The panel were provided with information on the staffing resource within the locality 

areas, this was allocated at the beginning of the pilot, however since, the partners have 

widened including housing solutions team, Project adder, Fire and Cleveland Police 

and a stakeholder group has been developed (including the community , partners and 

schools) will allows joint working.  

104. Following the initial information regarding the model, the panel were provided with 

information regarding work undertaken in the pilot areas to combat crime and anti-

social behaviour: 

 

 Allocated resource for both Localities  

 Working groups for specific issues and actions. 

 Police led action plan around People feeling safe. 

 Dedicated action plan for Drugs and drug related issues. 

 Weeks of action and ward specific operations (last week of action completed in 

January in Newport on speeding) 

 Joint meetings with dedicated officers to assist with diversion, engagement and 

assistance (youth provision, drug and alcohol)- moving forward that issues do not 

occur.  

 Community engagement- placing and residents and business owners at the heart of 

the community.  

 • Regular drop in events for Police and Council teams to offer assistance and 

opportunities for face to face reporting. 10 February 2022 

 Regular community feedback. 

 Increase in high level intervention – life of model, in Newport, there has been 9 

successful house closures. These were all linked in some way to drug dealing and high 

level anti-social behaviour. Property close for 3 months and no access is permitted 

during this time.  

 Increased community intelligence and officer knowledge due to wider team and joint 

working 

 

The panel were interested to learn whether crime and asb levels had reduced. In terms of 

indicators used by the locality model, the latest data was as follows: 

Incidents 

of ASB 

Q1 

20/21 

Q2 

20/21 

Q3 

20/21 

Q4 

20/21 

Q1 

21/22 

Q2 21/22 Q3 

21/22 

Newport 523  

 

349 374 244 258 232 172 

North 

Ormesby 

157 86 122 76 98 106 64 

Incidents 

of Police 

reported 

crime  

Q1 

20/21 

Q2 

20/21 

Q3 

20/21 

Q4 

20/21 

Q1 

21/22 

Q2 21/22 Q3 

21/22 

Page 26



21 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Incidents 

of Public 

reported 

crime  

 

Q1 

20/21 

Q2 

20/21 

Q3 

20/21 

Q4 

20/21 

Q1 

21/22 

Q2 21/22 Q3 

21/22 

Newport 595 694 672 588 685 672 632 

North 

Ormesby 

192 214 215 232 244 297 247 

 

105. The model has increased information sharing and helped to centre the approach to 

dealing with high levels of anti-social behaviour, which has resulted in an increase in 

high level interventions  with 9 House Closures, 3 Civil Injunctions and 9 injunction 

breaches taking place within Newport. 

 

106. There has also been a noticeable decline in incidents of anti-social behaviour and 

The incidents reported to the Police and incidents of public reported crime were 

comparable to 2019/20 data and what can be seen is a spike in the data in Q2 20/21 

when covid restrictions were eased. 

 

107. In terms of perception data, key questions are asked every 6 months and from there 

actions are put in place to ensure they are responded to.   

Feeling that Crime and ASB is improving in Newport 
* % of individuals indicating measure is a very or fairly big problem, desired outcome 
percentage decrease. 
April 2020 - 80.65%      October 2021- 44.29 

Improvement in perception of gang nuisance Newport * % of individuals indicating measure 
is a very or fairly big problem, desired outcome percentage decrease. 
 
April 2020- 64.51%      October 2021-36.91% 
 
 
Feeling that Crime and ASB is improving North Ormesby 
April 2020- 71.74%      October 2021-  77.14% 
 

 

Newport 151 185 177 144 219 196 165 

North 

Ormesby 

46 68 60 51 67 65 67 

Page 27



22 
 

 

108. Whilst the figures are promising, the Council is aware there is always room for 

improvement. 

 

109. Perception survey in both localities were completed in September 2020 a further 

survey linked to indicators was completed in March 2021 and again in October 2021.  

The survey was open to everyone who lives in in the pilot areas and covid significantly 

affected the way the survey way carried out. At the last survey, there were around 200 

respondent’s (approx. 2% of the ward) , and therefore whilst its pleasing , there was 

further work to be done to capture perceptions. The panel were advised that in the next 

round of surveys, they would be taken to community events to try and capture more 

views.  

 

110. In terms of perceptions, the below have been captured: 

 

 Perceptions of feeling safe during the day in Newport have risen from 31.18% of 
respondents feeling very safe or fairly safe in September 2020 to 35.49% in March 
2021 to 68.65% in October 2021. 

 Perceptions of feeling safe during the day in North Ormesby have risen from 32.61% 
of respondents feeling very safe or fairly safe in September 2020 to 51.51% in March 
2021 to 77.14% in October 2021.   

 Perceptions of feeling safe after dark in Newport have risen from 9.68% of 
respondents feeling very or fairly safe on an evening in September 2020 to 12.90% in 
March 2021 to 48.98%.  

 Perceptions of feeling safe after dark within North Ormesby have risen from 13.04% 
of respondents feeling very or fairly safe on an evening in September 2020 to 21.21% 
in March 2021 to 31.42%.   
 

111. Some of the statistics raised alarm to the panel members, especially in relation to 

feeling safe after dark. However as the perceptions have grown, there is strong 

evidence that the model is working. 

 

112. There was some concern that the pilot areas would cease to operate locality 

working after April 2022 in Newport and North Ormsbey, however the panel have 

been reassured by the Director of Environment and Community services that this will 

not be the case and that locality working will continue within these areas. An 

evaluation would be carried out of the two areas and other wards which would benefit 

from the model would be explored. 

 

113. As locality working is not town wide at present, and where there are high levels of 

crime and ASB, the council and partners are working with residents to put in place 

other preventative measures.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Councillor C Cooke- Ward Councillor for Newport 

Locality working is the best thing that was introduced. People faith has increased and 
have started to report things, however no one believed in the council to report these 

(which is why the reporting has gone up), however now issues get resolved and we have 
an all whole system approach e.g if an alley is trashed, we look at why ,and how this can 

be prevented from happening again- this is a success”. 

“locality working was needed in Newport and from the perceptions surveys, it shows that 

the model works”. 

 Page 28



23 
 

Kim May- streets ahead 

 “ Streets ahead has been here since 2006, we are a community and charity 

organisation and we provide a one stop shop and we were at one point the only 
one. The difference that locality working has made to the area has been amazing. 

You used to have to go round the houses to find an officer to report a problem, 
but we now go to Adam and his team and we know that things will be sorted. 

Residents feel safer and I am really pleased that locality is continuing as without 
it we would be lost and we are working smarter” 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONCLUSIONS 

114. The scrutiny panel reached the following conclusions in respect of its 
investigation: 

 
TERM OF REFERENCE A – 

 

115. Based on the evidence received, the Panel applauds the excellent work being 

undertaken by the Community Safety Team and partners. Whilst there is excellent 

Detective Steve Pattison, Cleveland Police 

“ Locality working does work, and by talking to each other, we get results through 
partnership working and breaking down barriers which were once there. The statistics 

show that when you start making an impression in an area, crime reporting may 
increase, because public perception has increased with the services that are being 

delivered and you get more intelligence”.  

“The police work closely with the local authority , for example, there are officers 

currently working alongside trading standards and officers have helped the local 
authority do untaxed vehicles “. 

 

Melanie Boyce -Community Safety Officer for selective landlord 

licensing.   

“ from my perception locality working has helped me and enhanced what I can 

do in the community. We work with other partners e.g. the police, but I know I 
have that direct contact and if I have to go on visits I can go with them. I do foot 

patrolled with PCSO’s and therefore residents get to know who I am, and what 
I am trying to achieve. If there is an issue relating to anti-social behavior, I look 

at a holistic approach and talk to other partners e.g. children’s services/ schools 
to ascertain the problem and work out how we can address these”.  

 

Page 29



24 
 

work being undertaken, the panel feels councillors and the wider community need 

further information on what the Council is doing in realtion to crime and asb. 

 

TERM OF REFERENCE B –  

 

116. The Panel are passionate to ensure Middlesbrough is a safe place to live and 

bring up a family. Whilst it is pleasing to hear that asb levels were at their lowest, 

the panel is concerned about the raising levels of criminal activity across certain 

areas of the town. 

117. Whilst the panel recognises that the Council and Cleveland police work in 

paetnership to combat issues in our town, the levels of Cleveland police officers 

patrolling our neighbourhoods is still lower than expected and the panel feel 

having more officers would help to reduce some of the nuisance and crimes being 

displayed. 

 

 TERM OF REFERENCE C  
 

118. From evidence received, it is clear more information sharing on the community 

trigger needs to be filtered to our communities. 

 

119. Whilst saying this, the panel cannot take away the excellent work of our teams 

and feels that their hard work should be acknowledged. Signing the ASB Pledge 

would further put Middlesbrough on the map for putting victims at the heart of what 

we do. 

 
TERM OF REFERENCE D 
 

120. From statistics and first hand evidence, it is clear that locality working does work, 

especially in raising perceptions amongst our communities. 

 

121. The panel is delighted that locality working will continue within Newport and North 

Ormesby and would be keen to hear about any further roll out as well as receiving 

further information on how locality working in the existing areas is impacting the 

levels of crime and asb. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

122. TO BE AGRRED BY THE PANEL 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

123. The panel would like to thank the following officers for their assistance in their work:  

 

 Geoff Field, Director of Environment and Community Services 

 Marion Walker, Head of Stronger Communities 

 Jane Hill, Strategic Community Safety Manager 

 Adam Parkinson, Senior Neighbourhood Development Manager 

 Daryll Tomlinson, Chief Inspector p0554, Middlesbrough Neighbourhood Policing- 

Cleveland Police 

 Kim May- Streets Ahead 

Page 30



25 
 

 Melanie Boyce -Community Safety Officer for selective landlord licensing 

 Detective Steve Pattison, Cleveland Police 

 Councillor Chris Cooke- Ward Councillor for Newport 

 Harvinder Saimbhi, CEO- ASB help 

 Katy Anderson, Practitioner Support Manager- ASB Help 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
   

124. The following sources were consulted or referred to in preparing this report: 
 

 Minutes of the Culture and Community Scrutiny Panel held on 15 July 2021, 21 
October 2021, 16 December 2021, 10 February 2022 and 10 March 2022.  

 Middlesbrough Council’s – Statement of Policy and Procedures for Anti-social 
behaviour. 

 ASB Help 

 Cleveland Police website 

 Gazette Live 
 BBC Panorama documentary – Anti-social behaviour- afraid in my own home. 

 
 

COUNCILLOR C MCINTYRE- - CHAIR OF CULTURE AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
PANEL 

 
The membership of the scrutiny panel is as follows: Councillors C McIntyre (Chair), G 
Wilson (Vice-Chair), R Arundale, D McCabe, L Lewis, M Nugent, S Dean C Dodds and J 
Rostron 
 
Contact Officer: 
Susie Blood 
Democratic Services Officer 
Telephone: 01642 729645 (direct line) 
Email: Susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Page 31

mailto:Susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Culture and Communities Scrutiny 

16.12.2021

Overview of crime and antisocial behavior statistics 

Marion Walker 

Head of Stronger Communities

marion_walker@middlesbrough.gov.uk

P
age 33

mailto:Marion_walker@Middlesbrough.gov.uk


About the Data

The information in this report is based of data from Cleveland police and 

shows Crime and ASB for:

• Cleveland Local Authority rate comparisons

• Middlesbrough Wards total numbers

• Middlesbrough Wards rates

P
age 34



Confidential and Sensitive

Local Authority Comparison - Crime Rate
Crime rates for 

Middlesbrough in 

2019 and 2020 

remained close to 

the other LA’s. 

However looking at 

the start of 2021 

the crime rate has 

climbed further 

away from the 

other LA’s as the 

year is 

progressing. 

P
age 35



Confidential and Sensitive

Local Authority Comparison - ASB Rate

ASB is at its lowest in 

3 years however, 

Middlesbrough it still 

higher than the other 

LA’s

P
age 36



Confidential and Sensitive

Middlesbrough - Ward Analysis - Crime

Crime totals per ward show 

that nearly all wards 

(excluding Brambles & 

Thorntree, Park end & 

Beckfield, and Ayresome) 

saw a decrease in crime from 

2019-2020.

We can also see that some 

wards such as Hemlington, 

Ladgate, Kader, and Central 

have already recorded more 

crimes, or are nearly higher 

than 2020. 

P
age 37



Confidential and Sensitive

Middlesbrough - Ward Analysis - Crime Rate

The 2021 figure is not fully 

complete so it is expected that 

they will be lower.

A decrease from 2019 to 2020 is 

evident. However looking from 

2018-2020 ward such as 

Newport, Park End & Beckfield, 

Brambles & Thorntree, and Park 

either increase or remained at a 

similar rate.

P
age 38



Confidential and Sensitive

Middlesbrough - Ward Analysis - ASB

ASB increased in 17/20 

wards from 2019-2020. 

This was expected due 

to an increase in ASB 

during COVID and the 

breach of lockdown 

rules.

However ASB in all 

wards so far in 2021 has 

remained lower than 

both 2019 and 2020. 

P
age 39



Confidential and Sensitive

Middlesbrough - Ward Analysis - ASB Rate

When looking at the 

ASB rate the only 

slight difference is 

that Park End & 

Beckfield comes 

higher than Park 

ward.

This is due to less 

ASB occurring in the 

ward and a smaller 

population. 

P
age 40



Confidential and Sensitive

END

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Statement of Policy and Procedures for Antisocial 

Behaviour. 

 

Updated March 2022. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 43



2 
 

 

CONTENTS 

 

 Part one- Policy Page Number 
1  Introduction   3 
2  Statement of Intent  4 

3  Definition of Antisocial Behaviour  4 
4  Community Safety Team- remit and approach  5 
5  Hate Crime, Incidents and Harassment  5 

6  Racial Harassment  6 
7  Safeguarding  6 

8   Tools available to combat Antisocial Behaviour   6 
9  Criminal Behaviour Order 9 
10  Supporting Victims and Witnesses   10 

11  Prevention and Early Intervention   11 

12  Rehabilitation of perpetrators and support for 
vulnerable groups   

11 

13  Dealing with Antisocial Behaviour in the Private Rented 
Sector  

12 

14 Selective Landlord Licencing 13 

15 Multi-Agency Partnerships   13 
16  Human Rights Act   14 
17  Data Protection/GDPR 14 

18  Publicity  15 
19  Confidentiality  16 

20  Staff Training   16 
21 Protection of staff  16 

 

 

 Part Three- Appendices: 
1   Relevant Legislation  

2  ASB Pathway 
3  Community Trigger procedure 

4  Trigger flowchart 
 

 

 

 

 Part two- Procedure Page Number 
22 Purpose of Procedure   17 

23 Scope  17 
24 Service Standards   17 
25  Antisocial Behaviour Process  18-21 

26  Victim and Witness Support  21 
27  Case Closure   21 

28 Working Procedure 22 
29 Review   23 

Page 44



3 
 

 

Part one - Policy 

 

1. Introduction 

This document sets out Middlesbrough Council’s approach to the issues of neighbour nuisance and 

antisocial behaviour. It should be seen in the context of a range of other preventative measures and 

initiatives, mainly arising from the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime 

and Policing Act 2014. 

 

It focuses on how we deal with incidents of antisocial behaviour, the support offered to victims and 

landlords, prevention, intervention, and the enforcement mechanisms currently available. 

 

Graffiti, rowdy behaviour, vandalism and threatening or noisy neighbours can seriously diminish the 

quality of life for individuals or whole communities. The Home Office estimates that antisocial 

behaviour costs public services across England and Wales £3.4 billion each year.  

 

Antisocial behaviour legislation has given local authorities and partner agencies a raft of powers, 

ranging from Civil Injunctions to Public Space Protection Orders and Closure Orders enabling agencies 

to effectively tackle antisocial behaviour. A fundamental part of this approach has been to ensure local 

agencies do more to respond to community concerns, for example, the introduction of 

Neighbourhood Policing. Increased joint working and the use of tools and powers, coupled with 

effective publicity, are giving communities and agencies in Middlesbrough the confidence to take a 

zero tolerance approach to antisocial behaviour. 

 

This policy also supports the Middlesbrough Community Safety Partnership strategic priorities; 

 

Page 45



4 
 

2. Statement of Intent 

Middlesbrough Council believes that all residents, visitors and businesses are entitled to live and trade 

peacefully, without harassment or fear. It is the aim of this policy to reduce nuisance, antisocial 

behaviour and disorder, giving all residents of Middlesbrough the right to quiet enjoyment of their 

homes and to also enhance the vitality of Middlesbrough as a commercial centre.  

 

Middlesbrough Council is also committed to work with partners to: 

 

 create safe and sustainable communities by actively tackling all forms of antisocial behaviour 

 have a procedure that reflects policy guidelines, which has clear lines of responsibility, is easy 

to follow and accessible for staff 

 ensure residents are given proper guidance on their rights to live in a peaceful environment, 

and the options available should they fall victim to antisocial behaviour 

 encourage residents to report incidents of antisocial behaviour 

 work with and support residents, other agencies and the Police to address problems of 

criminal and antisocial behaviour  

 investigate all complaints of nuisance and antisocial behaviour, take prompt and firm action, 

using the powers available ranging from enforcement,  through to preventative and 

rehabilitation measures 

 share information with the Police and other relevant agencies, regarding criminal and 

antisocial behaviour operating within GDPR guidelines 

 fully support local residents and witnesses who fall victim to antisocial behaviour 

 acknowledge all complaints within 3 working days. However, serious incidents involving 

threats and/or violence, or Hate based harassment must also be reported to Police to ensure 

an appropriate timely response. 

 

3. Definition of Antisocial behaviour 

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 defines it as acting in a way that causes, or is likely to cause, 

harassment, alarm or distress to a person not of the same household as the perpetrator. There may 

be a fine line between antisocial behaviour and disputes between neighbours over relatively minor 

inconveniences. Antisocial behaviour is persistent behaviour and can include: 

 

 intimidation through threats of, or actual violence 

 harassment, including hate incidents 

 verbal abuse/foul language 

 abusive behaviour aimed at causing distress or fear in certain people, for example elderly or 

vulnerable residents 

 noise 

 littering/rubbish dumping/fly tipping 

 drug dealing & prostitution 

 vandalism, property damage and graffiti 

 alcohol and drug misuse 

 intimidating gatherings of people in public areas 

 aggressive begging 

Page 46



5 
 

 motorbike nuisance 

 abandoned vehicles 

 stray dogs 

 

4. Community Safety Team Remit and Approach  

The team work to make neighbourhoods safer and stronger by utilising a range of statutory and non-

statutory measures to resolve antisocial behaviour, reduce crime, and the fear of crime. Officers work 

closely with the victims, perpetrators and their families to address unacceptable behaviour and ensure 

that parents take responsibility for the behaviour of their children.  

 

The community safety teams cover the whole of Middlesbrough in conjunction with the 

neighbourhood policing areas. Neighbourhood Safety Wardens and Neighbourhood Safety Officers 

are patch based consisting of several wards each across the town. Officers deal with all reports of 

nuisance and antisocial behaviour.  

 

The teams gather and receive intelligence and evidence from a variety of sources, i.e. resident diary 

sheets, Ward Members, Police AS13 data and Neighbourhood Safety Warden incident reports. As 

front line officers they will quickly identify emerging trends, hotspot locations and perpetrators 

responsible. As a result, the team play a crucial role in the Active Intelligence Mapping (AIM) process 

where officers are often identified as “problem owners” due to their co-ordinated multi-agency 

approach when tackling the issues.  

 

The team work on a tenure-blind basis, dealing with private rented and housing association tenants, 

as well as owner-occupiers. They also work in close partnership with the Thirteen Group Housing 

Enforcement Team. The Council generally take the lead on all “gang nuisance” cases across the town.  

 

Our antisocial behaviour process includes warning letters, interviewing the perpetrators and parents 

of those under 18 years, jointly with the Police, signing them up to Acceptable Behaviour Contracts, 

and working closely with officers from other agencies, making referrals wherever possible i.e. YOS, 

Early Help, Drug and Alcohol services and Social Care. 

 

Whilst enforcement action such as fines are used to change behaviours we also have other 

enforcement action to deal with the most persistent and serious cases, (Civil Injunctions, Criminal 

Behaviour Orders, Closure Orders and Evictions), however this is seen as the last resort, as officers 

work with perpetrators to access support services when required and also encourage perpetrators to 

become involved in diversionary activities. In addition the team work closely with Community Payback 

to ensure offenders carry out reparation work in the identified hotspot locations. 

 

5. Hate Crime, Incidents and Harassment 

 

Any crime or incident where the perpetrator is motivated by hostility or demonstrates hostility 

towards the victim’s race, religion, sexual orientation, disability or transgender identity is deemed a 

Hate Crime or Incident.  

 

Page 47



6 
 

The victim of a hate crime or incident does not have to be a member of a minority group or someone 

who is generally considered to be a “vulnerable person”. The Council will apply the same procedure 

used for Hate harassment where reports of this nature are received.  

 

6.  Racial Harassment 

Racial harassment is verbal or physical aggression towards individuals or groups because of their 

colour, race, ethnic or national origin, and includes attacks on property as well as people. Examples of 

racial incidents are: 

 

• assault and physical violence 

• verbal racist abuse ranging from jokes to offensive remarks and comments 

• racist graffiti in any form 

• objects being thrown at people or their property 

• offensive mail 

• racist literature 

• intimidation on grounds of race or colour 

 

Middlesbrough Council believes that all residents regardless of race, nationality or ethnic origins have 

the right to be, and feel safe at home and in public areas. The Council is therefore committed to 

combatting racial harassment and to pursuing a zero tolerance approach.  We are also committed to 

working together using a multi-agency approach to ensure that racial incidents are reported to the 

Police and monitored through the Hate Crime group.  

 

7.  Safeguarding  

The Community Safety Team receives regular training in order to raise their awareness of safeguarding 

and child protection issues.  

 

Officers will endeavour to safeguard the welfare of children and young people by protecting them 

from neglect, physical, sexual and emotional harm whilst using our services. All suspicions and 

allegations of abuse will be reported to Children’s Services as appropriate.  

 

Any concerns around the safeguarding of vulnerable adults will be discussed with the Safeguarding 

Vulnerable Adults team, Middlesbrough Council. 

 

8. Tools Available to combat ASB 

Antisocial behaviour causes harm to individuals and the community and must be stopped as soon as 

possible, when the minimum harm has been caused. 

The goal of any action is to: 

 protect victims, witnesses, and the community  

 enable the perpetrator to understand the consequences of their behaviour  

 ensure the perpetrator changes their behaviour. 

 

Measures that can be used by the Community Safety Team and other agencies include: 

 

Page 48



7 
 

 warning letters, joint interviews (with parents and perpetrators), contracts and agreements 

 fixed Penalty Notices and penalty notices for disorder  

 parenting Orders, Noise Abatement Notices, Civil Injunctions, CPN’s, Public Space Protection 

Orders (PSPO) and Criminal Behaviour Orders for offenders with criminal behaviour linked to 

antisocial behaviour 

 closure Orders  

 assisting landlords with possession proceedings against a tenant. 

 

Action may be initiated by a number of agencies including the Police, the Council, registered social 

landlords, private landlords and housing trusts. 

 

Acceptable behaviour contracts (ABCs) 

ABCs are non-legally binding written contracts between one or more local agency and someone who 

has behaved antisocially. The contract outlines what that person should or should not do. They are 

often used with children but can equally be used for adults, when a warning has been unsuccessful.  

 

Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBOs) 

The Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) is available on conviction for any criminal offence in any criminal 

court where antisocial behaviour has also been caused. The order is aimed at tackling the most serious 

and persistent offenders where their behaviour has brought them before a criminal court.  

 

Civil Injunction 

The injunction under Part 1 of the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 is a civil power 

which can be applied for to deal with antisocial individuals. The injunction can offer fast and effective 

protection for victims and communities and set a clear standard of behaviour for perpetrators, 

stopping the person’s behaviour from escalating. Although the injunction is a civil power, it is still a 

formal sanction and many professionals will want to consider informal approaches before resorting to 

court action, especially in the case of under 18s. 

 

Closure Order for Antisocial Behaviour 

The Closure Order power is a fast, flexible power that can be used to protect victims and communities 

by quickly closing premises that are causing nuisance or disorder. The power comes in two stages: the 

Closure Notice and the Closure Order which are intrinsically linked. The closure notice can be used by 

the Council or the Police out of court. Following the issuing of a Closure Notice, an application must 

be made to the magistrates’ court within 48 hours for a Closure Order, unless the Closure Notice has 

been cancelled. 

 

Public Space Protection Orders 

Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) are intended to deal with a particular nuisance or problem in 
a particular area that is detrimental to the local community’s qualify of life, by imposing conditions on 
the use of that area which apply to everyone. Failure to comply with a PSPO condition is an offence, 
and for this a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) may be issued. PSPOs can be enforced by Police Officers, 
Police Community Support Officers or any Officer designated by the Local Authority for example; 
Street Wardens. If you breach a PSPO, you could receive the following penalties: 

 A £25 fine on the spot, known as a Fixed Penalty Notice 

Page 49



8 
 

 A fine of up to £1,000 if the charge goes to court 

The PSPO is designed to ensure the law-abiding majority can use and enjoy public spaces, safe from 

antisocial behaviour. 

 

Police Accreditation 

The Neighbourhood Safety Wardens have been granted delegated powers from the Chief Constable 

as part of the Police Accreditation Scheme. This will give wardens additional powers that they can 

utilise anywhere in Middlesbrough. These powers include: 

o Power to issue penalty notices for disorder 

o Power to issue fixed penalty notices for cycling on a footpath 

o Power to issue fixed penalty notices for graffiti and fly-posting 

o Power to require giving of name and address 

o Power to deal with begging 

o Power to require name and address for anti-social behaviour 

o Power to require persons aged under 18 to surrender alcohol 

o Power to seize tobacco from a person aged under 16 

o Power to stop cycles 

 

Dispersal of groups 

The dispersal power is a flexible power which the Police can use in a range of situations to disperse 

antisocial individuals and provide immediate short-term respite to a local community. The power is 

preventative as it allows an officer to deal instantly with someone’s behaviour and nip the problem in 

the bud before it escalates. In areas where there are regular problems, the Police should work with 

the Council to find sustainable long-term solutions. In all instances, the impact on the local community 

should be considered before using the dispersal power.  

 

Community Protection Notice 

The Community Protection Notice (CPN) is intended to deal with particular, ongoing problems or 

nuisances which negatively affect the community’s quality of life by targeting those responsible. A 

CPN can be issued against any person aged 16 or over or a body, including a business. Where a body 

is issued with a CPN, it should be issued to the most appropriate person. In the case of a small business,  

it could be the shop owner, whereas in the case of a major supermarket it could be the store manager. 

The issuing officer will have to be able to prove that the person issued with the CPN can be reasonably 

expected to control or affect the behaviour. Failure to comply with a CPN is an offence, and for this a 

Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) may be issued. Depending on the behaviour in question, the issuing officer 

could decide that an FPN would be the most appropriate sanction. The FPN can be issued by a Police 

Officer, PCSO, Council Officer or, if designated, a social landlord. In making the decision to issue an 

FPN, the officer should be mindful that if issued, payment of the FPN would discharge any liability to 

conviction for the offence.  

 

An FPN should not be more than £100 and can specify two amounts, for instance, a lower payment if 

settled early, say within 14 days. In order to allow the individual time to pay the FPN, no other 

associated proceedings can be taken until at least 14 days after the issue.  

 

Page 50



9 
 

Noise Abatement Notices 

A Noise Abatement Notice requires the abatement of noise nuisance, or prohibits or restricts its 

occurrence or recurrence. They can also require a person to carry out works, and/or take other steps 

to stop the noise nuisance. The Council can also undertake the works to prevent further nuisance if 

the recipient of the notice fails to do so, e.g. seizing the noise making equipment. A notice must be 

served if the local authority is satisfied that a nuisance is likely to exist, occur or reoccur.  

 

Parenting Contracts 

Parenting contracts are voluntary agreements made between local agencies and a parent or parents. 

They set out what parents will do to address the antisocial behaviour of a child or children for whom 

they are responsible. Contracts may contain an agreement to attend a parenting programme, or to 

ensure that a child attends school regularly. They are often made between schools or local education 

authorities with the parent(s) of a child who has truanted or been excluded from school.  

 

Parenting Programmes 

A parenting programme teaches parents techniques to improve their child’s behaviour. They can be 

used at the first sign of problems, for example when a warning about a child’s behaviour is first given. 

The programmes focus on teaching parents skills to remedy the causes of problem behaviour by 

building a relationship with the child, use of praise and incentives and establishing consistent 

boundaries, with ‘time out’ for infringements. They are delivered by a range of organisations including 

the NHS, schools, children’s centres and Youth Offending Teams. 

 

Penalty notices for disorder 

Penalty notices for disorder (PNDs) are one-off fines which can be issued on the spot for a range of 

low-level disorder offences such as throwing fireworks, being drunk and disorderly and causing 

harassment. They can be issued by the Police, Police Community Support Officers and accredited 

Wardens to anyone over 16 years old, and attract penalties of £50 or £80 depending on the offence.  

 

9.  Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) Consultation  

This section describes the arrangements agreed between Middlesbrough Council and Cleveland Police 

in relation to Criminal Behaviour Orders. It also facilitates the involvement of other agencies and 

services thought to have relevant knowledge of individuals. The services with the relevant knowledge 

within the local authority include the Neighbourhood Safety Team (NST), Youth Offending Service 

(YOS), Adult or Children’s Safeguarding and Early Help services may be asked to contribute on an, “as 

and when” basis. The arrangements are designed to assist relevant agencies in the proper and 

effective exercise of their power to apply for an Order and establish an agreed consultative process. 

 

The Criminal Behaviour Order was established in the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 2014. 

This Act places a statutory responsibility for reducing crime and disorder on the Police and Local 

Authority. Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBOs) are one of the tools which can be used for that purpose.  

 

The lead agency (Local Authority or Police) seeking the Order will need to establish the extent of the 

problem. It is a requirement of the consultation process that evidence is produced to the effect that 

all reasonable means of resolving the situation have been tried.  

 

Page 51



10 
 

Where an order would cross the boundaries of an adjacent local authority or Police area, consultation 

should take place between all parties concerned. The area that initiates the process will take the lead. 

 

If the individual is under the age of 18 years, a consultation with the Youth Offending Service should 

always take place, with a specific request that they contact the key agencies involved with young 

people in the area and work towards resolving the antisocial behaviour with the individual. 

 

The reason for consultation with other agencies as above is to obtain the background history of 

individuals and families in order that an informed decision can be made as to the type of action that 

is appropriate. For example, does the defendant have a medical condition, which may contribute to 

their behaviour, or has the family suffered a crisis, which may explain the behaviour.  

 

10. Supporting victims and witnesses  

Antisocial Behaviour is a blight on our communities and can devastate the lives of those it affects. In 

extreme cases people have lost their jobs and have been forced to move from their homes. Whilst  

these are serious examples of the damaging impact of Antisocial Behaviour, for the vast majority of 

people their health and the well-being of their families are adversely affected by their experiences.  

 

The Neighbourhood Safety Team is committed to supporting victims of antisocial behaviour. We 

ensure all complaints are investigated promptly and it is imperative that residents are kept informed 

of any actions taken throughout the process.  

 

Effective witness support is about setting up systems and adopting approaches that seek to improve 

success rates in tackling cases of antisocial behaviour, whilst boosting the morale and confidence of 

the witness, the agencies involved and the wider community. In doing so, the safety and well-being of 

victims and witnesses must come first. 

 

The approach we adopt to reassure residents is that we must continue to keep residents fully informed 

of actions being taken. Our witnesses are of paramount importance and are contacted on a regular 

basis. 

 

To ensure the provision of support to complainants and witnesses throughout all stages of the process 

from initial complaint, to court, remedy, and beyond, our processes include: 

 

 a referral to Victim Care and Advice Service (VCAS) for a bespoke package of care 

 agree an action plan of support with the most vulnerable clients 

 being clear about how incidents of antisocial behaviour can be reported, assistance with and 

collection of diary sheets (if required) 

 making reporting channels as simple as possible 

 discussing and planning every stage of any legal action with witnesses 

 providing details of an emergency out of hours contact 

 informing relevant officers, (Street Wardens, CCTV, Police, etc.) so that they can also monitor 

the areas 

 provision of support at court 

Page 52



11 
 

 detailed explanation of hearsay evidence, ensuring anonymity 

 

Middlesbrough also has a Community Trigger procedure, which gives victims the legal right to request 

a case review of how relevant bodies and responsible authorities have dealt with their reports of 

antisocial behaviour. This procedure can be found in Appendix 3. 

 

11. Prevention and early intervention  

Family problems, poor educational attainment, unemployment and alcohol/drug misuse can all 

contribute to antisocial behaviour. 

 

The most successful interventions are those that engage the individual in changing their  own 

behaviour. By ensuring individuals understand the impact of their behaviour in the community and 

offering the necessary support for them to stop, it is possible to achieve long-term change. 

 

In Middlesbrough, any legal actions are used as a last resort. Individuals are offered the opportunity 

to change their behaviour at a very early stage when initial complaints are received. Officers quickly 

identify those other agencies who may be involved and ensure referrals are made. Whilst we want to 

try and engage the individuals in addressing their problems, we are in no doubt that communities 

cannot be expected to suffer nuisance, disorder, damage and harassment month after month.  

 

Although lots of positive work is done with individuals and their parents, it  is made clear by the Council 

that protection of communities must come first. Perpetrators of ASB are made fully aware, at an early 

stage that legal action may be sought, should their behaviour continue.  

 

Prevention and early intervention are an essential part of Middlesbrough’s approach to tackling ASB. 

We are involved in many initiatives that focus on these subjects including: 

 

 referrals to other agencies; YOS, Stronger Families Service, Housing support services and Drug 

and Alcohol Services etc. 

 the use of mediation when dealing with neighbour disputes and community issues 

 seeking further educational and employment opportunities via Stronger Families Service 

 reparation – established strong links with Probation and YOS to ensure ASB perpetrators, who 

are subject to Community Orders, are tasked to those areas where they have been responsible 

for causing harassment, alarm or distress. The point of this exercise is twofold; for the 

individual to gain an understanding of the damage caused to the local community and 

secondly for residents to witness first-hand the individual giving something back to their 

estate 

 

12. Rehabilitation of perpetrators and support for vulnerable groups  

Whilst considering the most effective options for the protection of tenants and the wider community, 

Middlesbrough Council is also aware of the positive impact that support has on perpetrators. The 

provision of support is particularly relevant when considering issues of ASB that are a consequence 

directly or indirectly of:  

 

Page 53



12 
 

 drug use 

 alcohol use 

 mental health 

 a disability 

 

It is important to note that the majority of people who fall within these vulnerable groups are not 

always perpetrators of antisocial behaviour. They themselves may also be victims of antisocial 

behaviour. Residents whose antisocial conduct is a consequence of one or more of the issues listed 

above may sometimes require support. Adopting effective interventions by specialist agencies can 

help ensure that key professionals are involved at the earliest possible stage to prevent or manage 

issues as they arise. Specialist agencies include; Public Health, CGL, Mental Health Services, Social Care 

and Mind. 

 

13. Dealing with Antisocial Behaviour in the private rented sector  

Middlesbrough Council recognises the specific and complex issues of antisocial behaviour within the 

private rented sector. Within the Public Protection Team sits the tenancy referencing scheme which 

was established to prevent the polarisation of unreferenced, often unmanaged “problem” tenants 

moving around the sector.   

 

Tenancy Relations Officers work alongside Neighbourhood Safety Officers to provide a range of 

services within the private rented sector. The main aim is to tackle antisocial behaviour and 

environmental crime by private rented tenants and to encourage private landlords to adopt good 

management practices.  

 

The referencing service enables landlords to find suitable tenants for their properties and for 

applicants to access affordable private rented accommodation. It also provides an access point for 

those living in predominately privately owned areas who may experience nuisance or antisocial 

behaviour.  

 

The service aims to promote and maintain social cohesion, sustainability and community safety via a 

range of preventative, support, enforcement and resettlement measures.  

 

Broad strands of the service comprise of: 

 

 reference checking potential tenants via the Tenancy Referencing Service  

 pre tenancy counselling and tenancy sign up service, enabling effective action against 

antisocial tenants 

 post tenancy visits for at risk new tenants within the private rented sector  

 maintaining a register of private rented  properties available to rent and assisting landlords 

with identifying suitable tenants 

 tackling initial neighbour nuisance and antisocial behaviour caused by private rented tenants  

 taking appropriate legal action against antisocial individuals 

 provision of training, legal advice and support to private  landlords in dealing with antisocial 

tenants 

Page 54



13 
 

 

The Local Authority does not have eviction powers in a private rented property. Only the landlord or 

letting agent acting on behalf of the landlord can instigate legal proceedings for repossession of the 

property.  The Community Safety Team can only use breach of the tenancy agreement as a tool to 

address private tenant’s behaviour by working in partnership with private landlords.   

 

14. Selective Licensing of Private rented Properties 

Within areas of Middlesbrough the Council will consider using selective landlord licensing, to help 

improve social and economic conditions of the area. 

 

Within the designated areas privately rented properties will need a licence to operate.  The owner of 

the rented property will need to make an application to the Council.  As part of the application process, 

proposed licence holders and managers will be required to prove that they are “fit and proper 

persons” and that they have satisfactory management arrangements in place, including those for 

dealing with antisocial behaviour. 

  

When deciding whether a landlord and/or managing agent is “fit and proper” the Council will look at 

whether they have: 

 

 discriminated illegally against anyone 

 breached laws that relate to renting property 

 committed any serious criminal offences (fraud, violence, drugs or sexual offences) 

 

The licence will be valid for 5 years.  Failing to apply for a licence could lead to prosecution and an 

unlimited fine.   If prosecuted, this would lead to the licence holder no longer being classed as ‘fit and 

proper’. 

 

15. Multi-agency partnership working 

Multi-agency partnership working involves the Community Safety Team working with residents and 

local agencies such as Registered Social Landlords, Cleveland Police, Middlesbrough Community Safety 

Partnership, Public Health, Early Help, Cleveland Fire Brigade, Neighbourhood Wardens, Education, 

Youth Offending Service, National Probation Service, Social Care and voluntary sector organisations.  

 

By working in Partnership we aim to provide a comprehensive package of support and enforcement 

to reduce antisocial behaviour in Middlesbrough.  

 

The Middlesbrough Community Safety Partnership is also managed by the Community Safety Team, 

this ensures strong statutory links between partners, working to reduce crime and antisocial 

behaviour at a strategic level. 

 

The approach that partners will take to ensure a coordinated multi-agency approach is implemented 
is called Active Intelligence Mapping (AIM)  
 
AIM is a multi-agency process that looks at emerging trends/ data from a wide range of sources. The 
analysis identifies clusters of problematic areas in terms of crime, ASB, fly tipping and deliberate fires. 

Page 55



14 
 

Services then utilise this data to deploy and/or co-ordinate resources within geographical areas of 
Middlesbrough addressing the problems identified.  
 

Operationally, the individual agencies analyse the accumulated statistical information in a 
collaborative way and agree a course of action, which tackles the issues identified. The process has a 
second stage, which is fundamental to validating the value of the AIM process. This is the monitoring 
of actions. Consequently, each subsequent meeting of the partnership addresses the actions deployed 
and the effects of such against the previous figures and any emerging trends.  
 
The strength of the Active Intelligence Mapping process is not the process itself but the commitment 
and accountability. Essentially, collaborative deployment of resources is a fundamental contributor to 
the reduction of crime.  
 

16. Human Rights Act 

There are three articles of the Human Rights Act that are applicable to this policy;  

 

Article 6 – The right to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time 

 

Any proceedings brought, as a result of this policy, will be heard in public court and be subject to 

review through the appeals process. 

 

Article 8 – The right to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence 

 

The collection and use of information concerning an individual will be controlled by the Data 

Protection Act and by agreed data sharing protocols. Any interference with an individual’s rights will 

be in accordance with the law and in the interests of the wider community. Action taken will be 

proportionate to the aim to be achieved, the question of proportionality being determined by the 

court. 

 

Article 14 – The prohibition of discrimination in the enjoyment of the convention rights 

 

Any action taken or procedures employed will be in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Equal 

Opportunities strategy. 

 

17. General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) 

Tackling antisocial behaviour depends upon robust information exchange between all agencies (both 

statutory and non-statutory) involved. Whilst Middlesbrough Council is mindful of our responsibilities 

under the Data Protection Acts 1998; 2018 they are not seen as barriers to sharing necessary 

information. Under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 with ‘authorities duty to consider 

crime and disorder implications’ information is shared between lead agencies to prevent and detect 

crime and disorder and is used for these purposes only. 

 

Middlesbrough Council is signed up to the Middlesbrough Community Safety Partnership Information 

Sharing Protocol which details how when and why to share information. 

 

 

Page 56



15 
 

18. Publicity 

It is often argued that the media “sensationalise” crime and antisocial behaviour. While this is a 

discussion topic in itself it is certainly true that the media can have a significant impact on the way 

people feel about crime. 

 

The fear of crime far outweighs the likelihood of becoming a victim. Therefore, it is vital that the public 

receive a balanced view of what is happening and what is being done to counter crime and antisocial 

behaviour in Middlesbrough. 

 

Each individual case should be judged on its merits as to whether or not to publicise the details of any 

enforcement action including FPN, court action, individual subject to a Criminal Behaviour Order or 

Civil Injunction. There should be a correlation between the purpose of publicity and the necessity test: 

that is, what is the least interference with privacy that is possible in order to promote the purpose 

identified. The Community Safety Team should ensure that the decision to publicise is recorded.  

 

The decision-making process should aim to consider and record several key factors including: 

 

 the need for publicity 

 consideration of the human rights of the public 

 consideration of the human rights of the perpetrator 

 what the publicity should look like and whether it is proportionate to the aims of the publicity  

 

The decision making process should be considered at an early stage, as to avoid any delay in publicity 

following the issuing of an FPN or court Action. 

 

The approach we adopt to reassure residents, is that we must continue to keep residents fully 

informed of actions being taken. Officers publicise all legal actions (where appropriate) and where 

individual orders are granted, a full leaflet or letter drop will be carried out to the affected area by the 

Neighbourhood Wardens. The leaflet or letter explains the terms of the Order and may include a 

photograph of the perpetrator, the street where they live, and appropriate contact officer details (in 

case of breach). This method is not about naming and shaming individuals, it purely sends an 

appropriate message to residents showing that we have acted upon information supplied to us and 

by doing so it assists residents in reporting breaches of such orders.  

 

The leaflets or letters also send a strong message to perpetrators about the firm stance we are taking 

on tackling antisocial behaviour. 

 

An offence dealt with via a fixed penalty notice may be publicised following payment of the fine.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



16 
 

19.  Confidentiality 

Complainants are normally concerned that their complaint could lead to reprisals from the 

perpetrator and may only provide information to the Council on the basis that it is confidential.  

 

It is paramount that officers do not disclose the identity of complainants in any circumstance. All 

complaints used as part of any legal proceedings will be used as hearsay evidence, to fully protect the 

witness unless otherwise explicitly directed by the complainant. 

 

Information relating to complainants and perpetrators may be shared with other agencies for the 

purpose of preventing antisocial behaviour or crime. The implications on confidentiality of information 

can be found in the information sharing protocol. 

 

20. Staff Training  

It is imperative that staff, are confident and efficient at dealing with complaints of antisocial 

behaviour. To do this they need to have a firm knowledge of problems associated with antisocial 

behaviour, the law and what can and cannot be done to tackle a complaint. This will be achieved by: 

 

 regular attendance on training courses, seminars or conferences on antisocial behaviour 

 regular attendance on courses on subjects associated with antisocial behaviour, e.g. racial 

harassment, other forms of harassment, Domestic Violence, mediation, support for victims, 

and support for vulnerable people  

 monthly discussions with line manager regarding open cases (one to ones and appraisals) 

 being informed about changes to policy and procedure and provided with any necessary 

training 

 ensuring that new staff become familiar with the Council’s current policies and procedures 

and are given guidance by a senior member of staff 

 

21. Protection of Staff 

Unfortunately employees of Middlesbrough Council, may from time to time be threatened, abused or 

harmed in the course of their normal duties or when specifically tackling antisocial behaviour. 

 

As detailed in the Statement of Intent, all staff will be fully protected in any such event,  which may 

include the Council taking legal action against perpetrators involved in this type of behaviour.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



17 
 

PART TWO- PROCEDURES 

 

22. Purpose of Procedure 

The purpose of this procedure is to outline Middlesbrough Council’s approach to tackling antisocial 

behaviour.  

 

The procedure details the process, actions and tools which Middlesbrough Council’s Community 

Safety Team will use in tackling antisocial behaviour.  

 

23. Scope 

This procedure covers all incidents of antisocial behaviour as defined in the: 

o Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003 

o Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

o Road Traffic Act 1988.  

o Police Reform Act 2002.  

o Confiscation of Alcohol (Young Persons) Act 1997.  

o Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  

o Highway Act 1835.  

o Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001.  

o Criminal Justice Act 1967 

o Licensing Act 1872.  

o Theft Act 1968.  

o Criminal Damage Act 1971.  

o Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

 

24. Service Standards 

On reporting antisocial behaviour to the Community Safety Team, residents will be allocated a 

dedicated case worker who will make initial contact within 3 working days. Initial complaints can be 

made in any of the following ways:   

 

 calling the general number on 01642 726001 

 e-mail asbunit@middlesbrough.gov.uk   

 in writing to the relevant Neighbourhood Safety Officer  

 In person to a Neighbourhood Safety Warden 

 in person at an arranged meeting  

 e-mail to the relevant Neighbourhood Safety Officer  

 via the Council’s website 

 

Where necessary arrangements will be made to visit the complainant either at home or at a mutually 

convenient venue in order to take full comprehensive details of the complaint.  

 

The officer supporting the resident will discuss the complaint and agree a support plan for dealing 

with the complaint.  

 

Page 59

mailto:asbunit@middlesbrough.gov.uk


18 
 

The resident will be regularly kept up to date with all actions take on the case.  

 

Support will be offered to all victims and witnesses until the case is closed and afterwards if necessary. 

On closing a case, the resident will receive a letter confirming that the case has been closed and the 

reasons why.  

 

25. Antisocial Behaviour Process 

All cases of reported antisocial behaviour will be assessed initially and if residents are Thirteen Group 

tenants and they are complaining about another Thirteen Group tenant then they will be advised to 

contact their local Thirteen Group housing office in the first instance.  

 

All other complainants will be issued with contact details of the Neighbourhood Safety Officer who 

will provide them diary sheets. Residents will be encouraged to keep a log of all incidents surrounding 

the complaint.   

 

The Neighbourhood Safety Officer will investigate further and take appropriate actions against the 

perpetrators in order to remedy the situation.   

 

There are a number of remedies available to Middlesbrough Council in order to tackle issues of 

antisocial behaviour. Middlesbrough Councils processes are based around the available legislation. 

Further details of which are available in Appendix 1.  

 

Process used to tackle ASB 

Perpetrator pathway (See Appendix 2 for further details) 

 

In order to address complaints, an antisocial behaviour process is in place to advise all perpetrators of 

the reason why particular actions are being taken.  Once evidence of ASB is received a perpetrator 

record is created on Flare, and the first warning letter is sent.  

 

Stage 1- First warning 

The evidence could be in the form of Police AS13, Neighbourhood Warden reports or reports from 

local residents.  The first warning advises that the behaviour has come to the attention of agencies 

and that the warning should be taken seriously as a continuation of the ASB can lead to escalation of 

enforcement action.  

 

Stage 2- Second warning 

If further evidence of ASB is received, a second warning letter is sent out and the perpetrator is advised 

that if the behaviour does not improve then it will lead to an Acceptable Behaviour Contact (ABC). In 

relation to young people, details of youth provision in the area is also provided at this stage.  

 

Stage 3- Acceptable Behaviour Contract (ABC) 

Where ASB continues despite warnings being issued, the perpetrator will be invited to a joint interview 

where they will be asked to sign an ABC. The contract will contain a set of conditions, where clear 

boundaries are set so the perpetrator knows exactly what behaviour is acceptable within the 

community.  The interview is led by the Neighbourhood Safety Officer along with a Neighbourhood 

Page 60



19 
 

Police Officer.  The ABC is part of a support package and where the perpetrator is under the age of 18 

then interventions should be offered through referrals to appropriate agencies i.e. Stronger Families. 

At this point parents may also be asked to sign a Parenting Contract.  ABCs run for a 6 month period 

and are reviewed at the 3 month stage. A copy of the ABC is provided to the Youth Offending Service, 

Stronger Families and Neighbourhood Police Officer.  

 

For those perpetrators over 18 and living in private rented property, a tenancy breach interview will 

also be conducted if felt to be necessary, advising the tenant that being involved in incidents of ASB 

represents a breach of tenancy conditions. Those tenants who need extra support will be referred to 

the necessary services.  

 

Stage 4- Final warning 

For those perpetrators who continue to be involved in incidents of ASB and where the ABC has been 

breached numerous times then a final warning is issued.  A meeting will be held and the perpetrator 

will be advised that the next stage of action would be a Criminal Behaviour Order, Civil Injunction or 

Closure Order. For those perpetrators who are over 18 and living in private rented property then the 

landlord will also be involved with the final warning and where necessary, may serve a notice of 

possession.  

 

Stage 5- Civil Injunction 

The injunction will be applied for with powers of arrest attached by the local authority to prohibit the 

perpetrator from causing nuisance, harassment, alarm and distress to others.  

 

The injunction under Part 1 of the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 is a civil power 

which can be applied for to deal with antisocial individuals. The injunction can offer fast and effective 

protection for victims and communities and set a clear standard of behaviour for perpetrators, 

stopping the person’s behaviour from escalating. Although the injunction is a civil power, it is still a 

formal sanction and many professionals will want to consider informal approaches before resorting to 

court action, especially in the case of under 18s. 

 

Non legal actions  

 

Warnings- warning letters are issued to those people who have allegedly been involved in incidents 

of antisocial behaviour.  The warning letters advise of the incidents which have been reported along 

with a copy of the antisocial behaviour process and where they are within the process. Details of 

support services available in the area are also enclosed within the warning letter.  

 

Acceptable Behaviour Contracts (ABCs) - are non-legally binding written contracts between one or 

more local agency and someone who has behaved antisocially, outlining what that person should or 

should not do. They are often used with children and young people, but can equally be used for adults, 

when a warning has been unsuccessful in addressing a problem. 

 

Tenancy Breach Interview - is a formal warning issued to the tenant or person residing or visiting the 

house who is guilty of conduct causing or likely to cause a nuisance or annoyance, using the house or 

allowing it to be used for immoral or illegal purposes, or for an arrestable offence committed in or in 

Page 61



20 
 

the locality of the dwelling house.  The tenant agrees to an action plan to remedy the breach. The 

action plan will set out what the tenant must stop doing to prevent further action being taken against 

the tenancy; it may also include an agreement for referral to support agencies.  

 

Parenting Contracts- are voluntary agreements made between local agencies and a parent or parents. 

They set out what parents will do to address the antisocial behaviour of a child or children for whom 

they are responsible. A contract may contain an agreement to attend a parenting programme, or to 

ensure that a child attends school regularly. They are often made between schools or local education 

authorities with the parent(s) of a child who has truanted or been excluded from school.  

 

Mediation- mediation is a way of voluntarily resolving disputes about perceived antisocial behaviour 

between neighbours, particularly when the underlying conflict arises from a difference of lifestyles 

rather than malicious intent. 

 

Dispersal of groups- Dispersal powers are used in public spaces (such as shopping arcades or parks) 

where groups gather and intimidate and harass the public. Once an area has been designated a 

dispersal area then Police can direct groups of two or more people to leave if they are causing a 

nuisance, or if they don’t live in the area. They may be excluded from the area for up to 24 hours.  

 

Fixed Penalty Notices- Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) are one-off fines issued for antisocial behaviour 

designed to help Police and local authorities tackle low level nuisance such as litter, fly-tipping and 

noise. They can be issued by local authority officers and in a limited capacity by Police Community 

Support Officers (PCSOs). FPNs can be issued to anyone over 10 years old. Local authorities can set 

fine levels locally. More serious offences such as truancy and noise nuisance attract larger fines.  

 

Legal actions  

To pursue a legal action, the Community Safety Team needs to satisfy a court that the complaints that 

have been made did actually happen and are serious enough to justify the order being sought.  

 

Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBOs) 

The Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) is available on conviction for any criminal offence in any criminal 

court. The order is aimed at tackling the most serious and persistent offenders where their behaviour 

has brought them before a criminal court.  

 

Civil Injunction 

The injunction under Part 1 of the Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 is a civil power 

which can be applied for to deal with antisocial individuals. The injunction can offer fast and effective 

protection for victims and communities and set a clear standard of behaviour for perpetrators, 

stopping the person’s behaviour from escalating. Although the injunction is a civil power, it is still a 

formal sanction and many professionals will want to consider informal approaches before resorting to 

court action, especially in the case of under 18s. 

 

Closure Order for Antisocial Behaviour 

The closure power is a fast, flexible power that can be used to protect victims and communities by 

quickly closing premises that are causing nuisance or disorder. The power comes in two stages, the 

Page 62



21 
 

Closure Notice and the Closure Order which are intrinsically linked. The Closure Notice can be used by 

the Council or the Police out of court. Following the issuing of a Closure Notice, an application must 

be made to the magistrates’ court for a Closure Order, unless the Closure Notice has been cancelled. 

 

Eviction 

Eviction is the last resort to address a breach of the tenancy agreement. If the Officer has exhausted 

all other means to address the antisocial behaviour and criminality of the tenant, member of the 

tenant’s household or visitors to the property, and if they continue to cause alarm and distress to 

others living within the vicinity,  then eviction may be deemed necessary and proportionate. When it 

is clear that a tenant has broken a condition of their tenancy agreement by causing unreasonable 

nuisance or annoyance, the landlord may have grounds to seek possession. The Community Safety 

Team will support the landlord through the legal process.   

 

26. Victim and Witness Support  

The Community Safety Team understands that cases of antisocial behaviour can cause delicate 

situations as the victims and witnesses often live very close to the person causing it and people are 

concerned about the possible repercussions. However, nobody should have to live with antisocial 

behaviour, so it is vitally important that it is reported and dealt with in the most appropriate way.  

 

 The key factors which need to be constantly assessed are;-  

 

 Is the victim / witness indicating that the ASB is affecting themselves or their family? 

 Are there any additional factors that need to be considered or further explored (disability,                     

mental health issues)? 

 What element of harm is being caused by the ASB? 

 Are the incidents increasing? 

 If known, does the perpetrator have a history of intimidation? 

 

This combination of factors provides a much clearer picture of risk on which to base any action, as well 

as providing a case management audit trail. 

 

The most important outcome of the assessment is that it must lead to action, namely an investigation, 

protection and/or support for the victim/witness and action against the perpetrator. If no further 

action is taken, the reasons for this need to be clear and justified.  

 

27. Case Closure 

All cases will reviewed regularly and at some point a decision will be made whether a case is to be 

closed.  

 

A case would be closed for the following reasons:  

 

• one-off incident and no further reports after 4 weeks.  

• no evidence of antisocial behaviour 

• case resolved due to low level intervention  

Page 63



22 
 

• case resolved due to high level intervention 

• perpetrator moved from the area 

• case referred to another agency as lead practitioner 

 

28. Working Procedure 

How complaints will be received 

 

(1) Telephone, written and e-mail complaints- Details of the complaint will be formally recorded, 

acknowledged and assigned to the Neighbourhood Safety Officer for the relevant area.  Dependant 

on the complaint a referral to another agency or service area may be made and information regarding 

the service will be provided. In certain cases it will be recommended that a report is also made to 

agencies such as the Police.  

 

(2) Reports made in person- Complaints can be made in person by visiting the Neighbourhood Safety 

Officer at one of the community hubs where an officer will make time to take details of the complaint 

and pass to the relevant officer to investigate further. 

 

(3) Anonymous reports- wherever possible anonymous complaints will be investigated. However 

actions will be restricted, as it is not possible to report progress or provide feedback to the 

complainant.  

 

Process once complaint received   

 

1. The officer receiving the complaint checks Flare to see if there are any previous complaints 

logged. Make contact via telephone or email and take full details of issues which are affecting 

them.  

2. During the conversation explain to the complainant the importance of obtaining evidence and 

details of how it has affected them.  

3. Advise them that they will need to keep a log of all incidents, which will be used for evidence. 

If residents are not happy/unable to complete diary sheets themselves advise them that 

assistance can be provided in order to complete them but stress the importance of reporting 

every incident, in order to build up a clear picture of what is occurring.  

4. Provide the complainant with contact details for Neighbourhood Policing Team and 

Neighbourhood Wardens and explain the circumstances in which they should contact them.  

5. Agree how regularly contact will be made.  

 

Process for investigating complaints  

  

1. In order to build up a picture of the situation, it is important to gather evidence from different 

sources  

2. Along with the evidence from the complainant, they may well mention other residents who 

have witnessed the antisocial behaviour, take details and contact them.  If other residents are 

witnessing the same antisocial behaviour then request diary sheets are kept and advise to 

contact police and/or street wardens if necessary.  Carry out a letter drop in the immediate 

area to establish if other residents are being affected. In cases of low level ASB such a letter 

Page 64



23 
 

can often result in the problem being resolved because the perpetrator is made aware of the 

complaints.  

3. Contact other agencies to find out if they have witnessed/received reports about the 

antisocial behaviour: 

 

 Police 

 Neighbourhood Safety Wardens  

 Environmental Protection staff  

 Fire Brigade 

 

If other agencies confirm they have information, obtain details of the incidents enabling a perpetrator 

record to be created detailing incidents from all sources. An official request for ongoing information 

can be made to Cleveland Police (Community Safety Team), this will ensure the flow of information is 

consistent and all incidents involving the Police are captured.  

 

If victims are not satisfied with the service provided to them, they are within their rights to activate a 

‘Community Trigger’. Full details of this can be found in Appendix 4 and 5. 

 

29.  Review 

This statement of Policy and Procedures will be a working document and will be reviewed and updated 

every two years or as and when new legislation is introduced. 

 

Page 65



Appendix 1 
 

Relevant Legislation  
 
Human Rights Act 1998 
 
Civil Evidence Act 1995 
 
Protection from Harassment Act 1997 
 
Antisocial Behaviour Act 2003 

 

Antisocial Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

 

Road Traffic Act 1988.  

 

Police Reform Act 2002.  

 

Confiscation of Alcohol (Young Persons) Act 1997.  

 

Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  

 

Highway Act 1835.  

 

Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001.  

 

Criminal Justice Act 1967 

 

Licensing Act 1872.  

 

Theft Act 1968.  

 

Criminal Damage Act 1971.  

 

Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 66



 

Appendix 2 
MIDDLESBROUGH’S ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR PROCESS EXPLAINED 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

OR 
 

CI 
 

(Civil Injunction) 

CBOs and CI’s are court orders, made for up to 3 years and have conditions  

w hich can seriously restrict you (your child), having an impact on your (your 
child’s) future such as f inding employment and housing.  

If  you (your child) breaks the conditions of the CBO it is a criminal offence 

and you (your child) may receive a custodial sentence, w hich could also 
impact on any current housing tenancy.  

If  you (your child) breaches the CI a w arrant of arrest can be issued, for w hich 

you (your child) may receive a custodial sentence, w hich could also impac t 
on any current housing tenancy. 

You (your child) w ill be monitored, w hich could include home checks, to 
ensure you (your child) is complying.  

You (your child’s) name/photo could be publicised in the community and 
possibly the press.  

 
 

 

A consultation meeting is held w ith Community Safety Team, Police, Youth 
Offending Service and any other agency involved w ith you (your child) 

You (your child’s) positive and negative behaviour is discussed, including if 

you (your child) have complied w ith the ABC and how  w ell you (your child) 
have co-operated w ith support plans.  

A decision is made at this meeting as to w hether you (your child) should 

move onto stage 5 – an application for a Criminal Behaviour Order (CBO) 

or Civil Injunction (CI). At the meeting other support services for you (your 
child) may be discussed.  

Once behaviour has escalated to this point it is very difficult to avoid 

legal action. 

 
 
 

An ABC is a contract w ith a set of conditions, w hich are put in place to set 

clear boundaries for you (your child) so that you or they know  exactly w hat 

behaviour is acceptable w ithin the community.  

You (your child) w ill be invited to attend an ABC meeting to discuss your 

(your child’s) behaviour and be issued the ABC.  

The ABC is part of a support package for you (your child) how ever by not 

follow ing the rules of the ABC or refusing to sign the agreement, w e can use 

this as evidence to apply for a legal order. As part of the support package  

you (your child) w ill be allocated a w orker from a relevant agency to support 

you (your child) w ith adhering to the ABC.  

 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 
Despite a previous w arning your (your child’s) behaviour has continued 

and/or escalated and if it does not improve it w ill lead to an Acceptable 
Behaviour Contract (ABC).  

You w ill receive information from relevant agencies w ith details of positive 

activities and/or support in your area. 

 

 
 

 

 

STAGE 4 

 

Final Warning / 

 

Pre Legal Action 

Meeting 
 

 

STAGE 2 

 

Second  

Warning 

Letter 

 

STAGE 3 

 

Acceptable 

Behaviour 

Contract (ABC) 
 

STAGE 5- Legal Action 

 

CBO 

(Criminal 

Behaviour 

Order) 

 

OR 
 

CI 

(Civil Injunction) 

Page 67



 

 
 
 
 
 

 

This is a f irst w arning and means that you (your child’s) behaviour has come 

to the attention of agencies w ho deal w ith antisocial behaviour. You should 

take this w arning seriously as a continuation of antisocial behaviour can lead 
to escalation of enforcement action detailed above.  

 

A referral w ill be made to the relevant agencies at this point in an attempt to 
engage you (your child) in positive activities.  

 

 

 

  

 

 

STAGE 1 

 

First Warning 

Letter 
 

Page 68



 

 

Appendix 3 

Community Trigger Procedure. 

 

MIDDLESBROUGH 

COUNCIL  

COMMUNITY TRIGGER 

PROCEDURE 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Single Point of Contact: 
 

Jane Hill – Strategic Community Safety Manager 

Stronger Communities 
Middlesbrough Council 

Tel: 01642 728112. E-mail: Jane_hill@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 69

mailto:Jane_hill@middlesbrough.gov.uk


 

 

 

No. Item 

1. Introduction 

 
2. Purpose 

 
3. Relevant Bodies and Responsible Authorities 

 

4. Definitions  
 

5. Threshold 
 

6.  Qualifying Complaints 
 

7. Activating the Community Trigger 
 

8. Case Review Process 
 

9. Appeal Process 
 

10. Accountability 

 
11. Information Governance and Agency Responsibility 

 

12. Communication and Publicity 
 

13. Procedure Review 
 

 Appendix 

 

1 Community Trigger Agency Information Request Form 
 

2 Community Trigger Flowchart & Timescales 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 70



 

1. Introduction 

On 13th March 2014 the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 received 

Royal Assent. On 20th October 2014, the response to complaints about anti-social 

behaviour (commonly referred to as the Community Trigger) provisions of this Act under 

Sections 104 and 105 commenced.  

 

This procedure sets out how relevant bodies and responsible authorities in the 

Middlesbrough Local Authority Area will carry out their duties regarding the Community 

Trigger under the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 

 

2. Purpose 

To give victims the legal right to request a case review of how relevant bodies and 

responsible authorities have dealt with their reports of anti-social behaviour. 

 

3. Relevant Bodies and Responsible Authorities 
 

3.1 The relevant bodies and responsible authorities under the Community Trigger in 

Middlesbrough are: 

 Middlesbrough Council 

 Cleveland Police 

 South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group 

3.2 The co-opted housing association members are:  

 Thirteen Housing 

 Accent Foundation Ltd 

 Endeavour Housing Association 

 Guinness Trust 

 Home Group Ltd 

 Three Rivers Housing Association 

 

4. Definitions  

4.1 Anti-social Behaviour 

 

For the purpose of the Community Trigger this is defined as; “behaviour causing 

harassment, alarm or distress to a member, or members of the public.” 

 

When deciding whether this definition is met, agencies should consider the cumulative 

effect of the incidents and consider the harm or potential harm caused to the victim, rather 

than rigidly deciding whether each incident reached the level of harassment, alarm or 

distress.  

 

Behaviour which falls below the level of harassment, alarm or distress, may not meet this 

definition, but when assessed on the grounds of potential harm to the victim, the impact 

of the behaviour may be such that this definition is met. 

 Page 71



 

The harm, or the potential for harm to be caused to the victim, is an important 

consideration in determining whether the definition is met because those who are 

vulnerable are likely to be less resilient to anti-social behaviour. People can be vulnerable 

for a number of reasons, and vulnerability or resilience can vary over time depending on 

personal circumstances and the nature of the anti-social behaviour.  

 

Even though housing related anti-social behaviour has a lower test of nuisance or 

annoyance, because of the victims inability to separate themselves from the anti-social 

behaviour the harm experienced is highly likely, depending upon the circumstances, to 

result in harassment, alarm or distress for the purposes of the Community Trigger. 

 

 

5. Threshold 

Middlesbrough’s Community Trigger threshold is defined as;  
 

(a) An individual, business or community group has made three or more reports 

regarding the same problem in the past six months to Middlesbrough Council, 

Cleveland Police, or their Landlord (if a Housing Association operating in 
Middlesbrough), or 
 

(b) More than one individual, business or community group has made five or more 
reports about the same problem in the past six months to Middlesbrough Council, 

Cleveland Police, or their Landlord (if a Housing Association operating in 
Middlesbrough). 

 
 

6. Qualifying Complaints 

6.1 Incident Reporting Criteria 
 

(a) Incidents will only be considered under the threshold where they have been 
reported within one month of the date of the incident occurrence to Middlesbrough 

Council, Cleveland Police, South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group, or their 
Landlord (if a Housing Association operating in Middlesbrough). 
 

(b) Applications to use the Community Trigger will only be considered where they 

have been made within six months of the date of all the reports of anti-social 
behaviour being considered under the threshold. 
 

(c) Incidents which have been reported anonymously will not be considered under the 

threshold.  
 

(d) Incidents will not be considered under the threshold where the time between the 
incidents being reported, and the request for activation of the Community Trigger, 

has not allowed the investigation agency(s) in receipt of the reports, time to have 
investigated the reports under the operating days/times and  timescale(s) of their 
investigation procedures.  
 

For example; an individual reports an incident of anti-social behaviour on a Friday 
evening, on the following Saturday and Sunday, to the Council’s Out of Hours 
contact number, followed by their request to activate the Community Trigger on 
the Monday morning. As the Council’s Anti-social Behaviour Officers finish work 

at 4.30pm on the Friday and return to work at 9.00am on the Monday this has not 
Page 72



 

allowed Officers time to investigate and action the anti-social behaviour reports 
before a request to activate the Community Trigger has been made.   

 
(e) Hate crimes and/or incidents will not be considered under the Community Trigger 

as they have their own process. 
 

6.2  Responsible Area 
 

Incidents will only be considered under the threshold where they have involved 
persons living, visiting, working or engaging in lawful activity within the Borough of 

Middlesbrough. 
 

6.3 Referrals to Complaint Procedures 
Any request for a case review under the Community Trigger process which meets 

the definition of a complaint will be refused with a referral made instead into the 

appropriate agency(s) complaint process.  

 
Complaint Definition - “A complaint is an expression of dissatisfaction, however 
made, about the standard of service, action or lack of action by an agency, its staff, 

or contractors or agents providing services on behalf of the agency that requires 
a response”. 
 
 

7. Activating the Community Trigger 

7.1 Any individual (of any age), business or community group (or a person acting on 

their behalf with their consent) who has been the victim of anti-social behaviour 
may request that the Community Trigger is activated. 

 
7.2 All requests to activate the Community Trigger in Middlesbrough must be made by 

telephone, e-mail or letter to:  
 
Neighbourhood Safety Team 
Grove Hill Hub, Bishopton Road, Grove Hill, Middlesbrough, TS4 2RP 

Tel: 01642 728367 
E-mail: asbunit@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

7.3 Middlesbrough’s Single Point of Contact for the Community Trigger is: 

Jane Hill – Strategic Community Safety Manager 
 

7.3 No anonymous requests to activate the Community Trigger will be accepted.  
 

7.4 Middlesbrough’s Community Safety Team will acknowledge in writing the receipt 
of all requests to activate the Community Trigger. This should occur within 3 
working days. This acknowledgement letter should contain timescales of when the 
applicant can expect a formal response to their trigger request.  

 
7.5 Middlesbrough’s Community Safety Team will send all relevant bodies and 

responsible authorities a Community Trigger Information Request Form. This 
should occur within 5 working days of all trigger requests being received. (see 

Appendix B) 
 
7.6 These bodies and authorities will provide Middlesbrough Council with any 

information they hold on any involvement they have with the requester or the 
threshold incidents. This should occur within five working days of the information Page 73

mailto:asbunit@middlesbrough.gov.uk


 

request. (Subject to the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998, and Part 1 of 
the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000.) 

 
7.7 Middlesbrough’s Legal Services will review the case to determine whether the 

threshold has been met. The applicant will be informed in writing within 10 working 
days of receipt of their request and the Single Point of Contact will be informed. 

 
 

8. Case Review Process 

8.1 Middlesbrough’s Community Safety Team will arrange a Community Trigger Case 

Review Panel Meeting to discuss all requests received to activate the Community 

Trigger. This meeting should occur within 10 working days of the receipt of the 

trigger application request. 

 

8.2 The Community Trigger Case Review Panel Meeting may consist of a nominated 

senior representative from the following organisations: 

 Middlesbrough Community Safety Team  
(representing Middlesbrough Council) 
 

 Cleveland Police 
 

 Tees Valley Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

 Thirteen Group 
(representing all Housing Associations operating in Middlesbrough) 
 

 South Tees Youth Offending Service  
(were the perpetrators involved in the incidents are under the age of 18 years) 

 
8.3 A Community Trigger Case Review Panel meeting will only occur where a 

minimum of three panel members are present. 

 

8.4 Members of the Case Review Panel meeting will be responsible for voting in a 

Chair for the Case Review Panel meeting. 

 

8.5 This review may include (but is not limited to) whether or not:  

 Acknowledgement of the anti-social behaviour reports has been made 
according to the acknowledgement procedures of an investigating agency in 
receipt of the report,  
 

 A Risk Assessment Matrix (RAM) been completed to determine the 
vulnerability of the victim by an investigating agency, (where used by the 
investigating agency) 
 

 Service delivery by an investigating agency has taken into account the 
vulnerability of the victim 

 

 Service delivery has been appropriate or effective due to a lack of information 

sharing / problem solving / joint working by an investigating agency,  
 

 Service delivery has been appropriate or effective due to a failure by an 
investigatory agency to follow its investigation procedures, 

 Page 74



 

 Service delivery by an investigating agency has been able to reduce the 
vulnerability of the victim to a satisfactory level, 

 

 Service delivery by an investigating agency has been able to reduce the 
problem to a level where in the professional opinion of the investigating officer 
the behaviour reported is no longer a cause for concern.  

 
8.6 When a requester is considered to be vulnerable, the meeting should review what 

practical and emotional support has been offered to them and whether any 
additional support is necessary or appropriate.  

 
8.7 As a result of the case review the panel members may make recommendations to 

agencies. These recommendations may take the form of an action plan to resolve 
the reported behaviour. 

 
8.8 The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act places a duty on a person who 

carries out public functions to have regard to any recommendations made by the 
Case Review Panel. 

 
8.9 This means that they are not obliged to carry out the recommendations, but that 

they should acknowledge them and may be challenged if they choose not to carry 
them out without good reason.  

 
8.10 Middlesbrough’s Community Trigger Single Point of Contact Officer will contact 

the applicant to discuss the outcome of the Case Review Panel meeting. This 
contact should occur within five working days of the meeting.  

 
8.11 This discussion will include: 

 the outcome(s) (if any) from the case review panel meeting, any 
recommendation(s) that were made by the case review panel, and the 

applicants comments on any recommendations / draft action plan that may 
have been developed by the case review panel.  
 
The applicant will also be informed of the appeal process for the case review 

meeting outcomes, recommendations or action plan. 
 
 

9. Appeal Process 

9.1 All applicants (or a person acting on their behalf with their consent) have the right 

to request an appeal of: 

 The outcome(s) from the case review panel meeting, any recommendation(s) 
or action plan that may have been developed by the case review panel.  
 

9.2 All requests for an appeal must be made by the applicant within ten working days 

of being informed of the outcome(s) of the case review meeting. 

 

9.3 If an applicant is appealing more than ten working days after being informed of the 

outcome(s) of the case review meeting they must explain why their appeal has 

been delayed. The time limit to make an appeal may be extended if there are good 

reasons for the delay.  

 

Page 75



 

9.4 All requests for an appeal must be must be made in writing and clearly state the 

reasons (with any supporting information/evidence) for the appeal to:  

 

Geoff Field (Director of Environment & Community Services) 

Chair of Middlesbrough Community Safety Partnership 

c/o Democratic Services 

Town Hall 

Middlesbrough  

TS1 9FX 

 

9.5 Appeals may be made on the following basis. That the case review panel:  

 

 Used information that is incorrect, or has been taken out of context to 
determine a trigger application,  

 

 Not considered all relevant information about an applicant’s (or their 
households) circumstances or vulnerability, or the circumstances/details of the 
incidents of anti-social behaviour reported, or the actions of relevant bodies 

and responsible authorities regarding these reports when conducting the case 
review,  

 

 Failed to follow its published procedures when determining a trigger 

application.  
 

9.6 No anonymous appeals will be accepted.  

 

9.7 The Community Safety Partnership will acknowledge in writing the receipt of all 

appeals. This should occur within two working days. This acknowledgement letter 
should contain a date when the applicant can expect a formal response to their 
appeal request.  

 

9.8 The Community Safety Partnership will arrange a Community Trigger Appeal 
Panel Meeting to discuss all appeal requests received. This meeting should occur 

within fifteen working days of the receipt of the appeal request. 
 

9.9 The Community Trigger Appeal Panel Meeting will consist of the Chair of 

Middlesbrough’s Community Safety Partnership and the Head of Service for 

Stronger Communities. 

 

9.10 The Community Safety Partnership should then write to the Community Trigger 

applicant with the outcome of their appeal within five working days of the appeal 

meeting. 

 

9.11 Where an applicant continues to dispute the outcome of their Community Trigger 

Appeal, they retain the right to submit a formal complaint to the appropriate 

authorities under their respective formal complaint policies.  

 

9.12 Applicants also retain the right to submit a formal complaint to the appropriate 

authorities’ independent regulators. (Local Government Ombudsman, 
Page 76



 

Independent Police Complaints Commission, Health Service Ombudsman, 

Housing Ombudsman). 

 

10. Accountability 

10.1 Middlesbrough Community Safety Team will be responsible for administrating the 

Community Trigger.  

 

10.2 This to include: 

 Development of the Community Trigger process, 

 Consultation regarding the Community Trigger process with partners, 

 Development of publicity and training packages,  

 Responding to Trigger application requests with partners and maintaining 

records regarding these, 

 Arranging for any Case Review and Appeal Panel meetings,  

 Maintaining and circulating any information, documents, minutes, 

recommendations, or action plans etc. required for the Community Trigger 

process. 

 Ensuring referrals are made to appropriate agencies for all hate crime incidents 

10.3 The Community Trigger Case Review and Appeal Panels will be accountable to 

the Community Safety Partnership.  

 

10.4 Middlesbrough’s Community Trigger Single Point of Contact will be responsible 

for producing regular updates to the Community Safety Partnership about the use 

of the Community Trigger in Middlesbrough.  

 

10.5 Information will include; 

 implementation, and any review of the community trigger process  

 numbers / details of requests for activation of the community trigger 

 requests for appeals over refusal to activate the community trigger 

 requests for appeals over the outcome of community trigger case reviews 

 any recommendations made by community trigger case reviews 
 

 

11. Information Governance and Agency Responsibility 

11.1 All information regarding Community Trigger applications will be shared under the 

terms of the Community Safety Partnership’s (CSP) Information Sharing 

Framework and will be classified as confidential. 

 

11.2 All Middlesbrough CSP members will be responsible for co-operating with, and 

participating in, the Community Trigger process and the Case Review and Appeal 

Panel meetings as requested. 

11.3 All Middlesbrough CSP members will be responsible for providing Middlesbrough 

Community Safety Team and the Case Review and Appeal Panels with any 

information required to deal with Community Trigger application requests, and to 

conduct Community Trigger Case Review or Appeal Panel meetings. 

 Page 77



 

11.4 All Middlesbrough CSP members will be responsible for responding to any 

recommendation(s) and/or action plan(s) produced by the Case Review and 

Appeal Panel meetings.   

 

11.5 The relevant bodies and responsible authorities in Middlesbrough may request 

any person to disclose information for the purpose of a Community Trigger review.  

 

11.6 If the request is made to a person who exercises public functions and they possess 

the information they must disclose it. The only exception to that is where to share 

information would be either: 

 

 In contravention of any of the provisions of the Data Protection Act 1998, OR 

 Prohibited by Part 1 (Communication Interception) of the Regulation of 

Investigatory Powers Act 2000. 

11.7 Other than these two exceptions, disclosing information for the Community Trigger 

does not breach any obligation of confidence or any other restriction on the 

disclosure of information. 

 

11.8 Housing providers undertake several functions, including some that are public in 

nature and some that are not. (Homes and Communities Agency’s Regulatory 

Framework, Neighbourhood and Community Standard). If a request is made in 

relation to their functions that are considered to be public in nature, the information 

sharing duty applies. This is the case for housing providers who are co-opted into 

the group of relevant bodies as well as those who are not.  

 

 

12. Communication and Publicity 

12.1 Middlesbrough’s Community Safety Team will be responsible for co-ordinating all 

publicity regarding the Community Trigger on behalf of Middlesbrough’s 

Community Safety Partnership. 

 

 

13. Procedure Review 

13.1 The Community Trigger process and this policy should be reviewed on an annual 

basis. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 78



 

1. Community Trigger Agency Information Request Form 

 

MIDDLESBROUGH COMMUNITY TRIGGER  
INFORMATION REQUEST FORM 

 
 

Middlesbrough Community Safety Partnership has received an application from the below listed individual, business or 
community group requesting a case review (commonly referred to as the Community Trigger) of how relevant bodies 
have dealt with their reports of anti-social behaviour. Their review application has been made under Sections 104 and 
105 of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. 
 
It is due to this that the Partnership has convened a Case Review Panel meeting to review what action has previously 
been taken by agencies in response to the requesters reports and to consider whether any recommendations for further 
action are appropriate.  
 
Your organisation has been identified as either a relevant body (Section 105 [1] [a] [b] [c] [d]) or a local provider of social 
housing operating in the Middlesbrough area (Section 105 [1] [a] [b]) under the Community Trigger legislation.  
 
Please complete and return this form to Middlesbrough’s Community Safety Team with any information you may hold 
regarding any involvement your organisation may have had over the last six months, in any reports of anti -social 
behaviour involving the requester. 
  
Please note that Section 7 (3) of the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 requires you to provide this 
information as an organisation that exercises public functions.   

 

Please return this form to:  
 

Middlesbrough Community Safety Team 
 

Middlesbrough Council, Neighbourhood Safety Team 
Grove Hill Hub, Bishopton Road, Grove Hill, Middlesbrough TS4 2RP 

 
Tel: 01642 728112. E-mail: Jane_hill@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

 

Details of Person Requesting a Community Trigger Case Review 
 

Name: ___________________________________________________ D.O.B:________________ 
 
Address: _______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Status:  Individual / Business / Community Group  
 

Information Requested 
Details of any information held by your organisation regarding any reports of anti-social behaviour which involve the above 
named requester. 
 
Date period to consider: _______________________  
 
For example: Number of reports received. Summary details of reports received including dates, times, occurring location, 
and details of any alleged offenders identified. Information regarding whether any responding / investigating officers, and 
from what teams, were assigned to deal with these reports. Details of any assessments, referrals, advice, support, treatment, 
meetings, mediation, restorative conferences, verbal or written warnings, legal action, or warning flags / markers which 
occurred in response to the reports. Details of any action taken in response to the reports.  
Details of why no action was taken in response to the reports. (if applicable) 
 
Please provide this information no later than: ____________________  
 

Information Details 

(please continue on a separate sheet if necessary) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 79

mailto:Jane_hill@middlesbrough.gov.uk


 

Appendix 2 

Trigger Flowchart 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Request to activate community trigger received by MBC Community Safety 

Team requests received via telephone, email, or letter 

Community Safety contacts the applicant to acknowledge receipt within 3 

days. 

MBC Community Safety Team requests information related to the case from 

the relevant agencies to allow a decision on the trigger criteria and for the 

case meeting. 

Community Trigger Case Review Meeting 

If the trigger criteria is met, a meeting between those agencies 

to whom the ASB reports have been made to (this may include 

Police, Council or Registered Social Landlords) will be arranged 

at which the agencies will review their responses and consider 

how the problem could be better resolved. 

Applicant satisfied with 

outcomes and action plan 

monitored by lead agency 

Applicant dissatisfied with 
outcome - appeal 

5 Working Days 

10 Working Days 

5 Working Days 

Decision made by MBC Legal and CS Manager on 

whether the threshold has been met. 

Is information received sufficient to activate the trigger 

and case review meeting to be held?  

YES  NO - Further information requested from 

agencies involved. Holding letter sent to 

applicant by Community Safety informing 

them of 5 day extension to process 

YES 

NO – Letter sent to applicant by Legal 

explaining reason why threshold has not 

been met. Advice & guidance issued re 

MBC complaints procedure. 

A response will be sent to the applicant by the Lead Agency, 

detailing actions taken and if necessary offering suggestions as 

to how the multi-agency partnership can attempt to resolve the 

ASB. Appeal document to be include with response. 

Is the applicant happy with the “community trigger” response? 

5 days to gather 

information 

P
age 80



 

 

P
age 81



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes from the Culture and Communities Scrutiny Panel held on 7 April 2022
	4 Tough enough? Enforcement in Middlesbrough and its impact on crime and anti-social behaviour'- Draft final report
	Appendix A- Crime stats
	Appendix B- ASB Policy updated Mar 2022.docx


